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CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  So this is a public hearing pursuant to sub section 95R of the Competition and Consumer Act as part of the East Coast Gas Inquiry.  I'm Rod Sims, chairman of the ACCC.  Also present today are Commissioners Roger Featherston and Jill Walker.  I'll get the staff to introduce themselves, thanks.

MR BALL:  David Ball from the ACCC's legal group.

MR PHILP:  Brenton Philp, project staff.

MR JOSE:  Jeremy Jose, project staff.

MR LOWERY:  James Lowery, project staff.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Okay.  So the hearing today is open to members of the public and we very much welcome you here today but, of course, today is about taking sworn evidence from people who have responded to the Commission's invitation to do so and so it's really them we're hearing from.  So, obviously, if you're interested in giving evidence, please let us know, but today please, if you could refrain from making any comments and remain as observers.

A few preliminary matters to go through.  The hearing is being recorded.  A transcript of the meeting will be made available.  Now, if I could just refer to the witness today, I assume you understand that the transcript will be made and will be made public, and I assume you've also got a copy of the notes for witnesses in relation to this inquiry; could you please confirm that you've got that?

MR SIMONIAN:  Yes, I've read them.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Okay, thank you.  Now, have you already provided any documents to the Commission for the purposes of this hearing?

MR SIMONIAN:  I have provided some.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Yes, okay, and do you have any additional documents to provide?

MR SIMONIAN:  No.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Before commencing the hearing, I need to remind you it's a criminal offence to give evidence that you know to be false or misleading; do you understand this?

MR SIMONIAN:  I do.

<GARBIS SIMONIAN, SWORN

 FILLIN "(hh.ddAM/PM)" \* MERGEFORMAT (9.08AM)
CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  My apologies.  I always try and get through the formalities as quickly as I can and I usually omit something.  Could I get you to please state your name, position and address, thanks?

MR SIMONIAN:  Garbis Simonian, I'm the managing director of Weston Aluminium, Hunter Gas Pipeline Pty Ltd and my address is 30 Hope Street, Pymble, New South Wales.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Excellent, thank you very much.  Okay, over to you.  We look forward to--

MR SIMONIAN:  Okay.  Firstly, I just want to elaborate on my position.  Weston Aluminium is a secondary aluminium refiner in the Hunter Valley.  We're a medium gas user and have been in business since 1998.  We use about 100,000 gigajoules per year of gas.  I'm also a shareholder and managing director of Hunter Gas Pipeline.  We have an approval from the New South Wales and Queensland Governments to construct a gas pipeline from  Newcastle to Wallumbilla in south Queensland, and in the past I was or am president of the major gas users, the Hunter Major Gas Users Group.  That organisation is not active but I'm still the president.

Okay, thank you for the opportunity to speak to you today.  I will speak today from my experience since 1998 both being a customer of gas as a consumer and also my experience with the Hunter pipelines as its director.  Over the years one of the major problems that we faced is limited competition in the gas supply market.  Every three years - it used to be every three years - we would go to market and inevitably there was a small group, a very limited group, Energy Australia or before that I think there was another entity, Origin and AGL and sometimes Santos - but inevitably it was the same small group and the prices would come in and they would be fairly close in price but the terms and conditions of the contracts were almost identical.

So, we would choose one of the suppliers, and over the years I wondered why, there aren't any more suppliers.  There are lots of small gas companies and people, with the amount of gas that would satisfy us; 100 gigajoules is not a huge amount.  And one of the reasons I found from experience was, years ago, we tried to get a connection into the Sydney to Newcastle pipeline, and at that time we were dealing with Jemena, and I can tell you that it was a real shock to me.

It took six months just to get a meeting, many letters, and then, when, we had the meetings the cost of connection was about four times what the private sector would quote, and it was so expensive that we really didn't sort of bother.  And quite recently a similar experience, I have a contact, an associate, who has some mine degassing gas, in the Central Coast.  Now, he has more than enough to satisfy us and I've said to him, "Look, I'm ready to buy," he's ready to sell, but he said to me, you know, "Getting a connection is very, very expensive and very, very difficult."

And today it's so difficult that it makes the cost prohibitive and some of the other options we're looking at is having compressed gas - compressing the gas and transporting it by truck, but that is not efficient - and he's very close to the Sydney to Newcastle pipeline but yet, he finds it difficult to get a connection.  The second problem that, I've experienced is the unequal bargaining position between the customer and the gas supplier.  I mean, you have to look - historically, if you look back when these rules, these contracts were written, they were written I think in the 70s and at that time AGL was government owned and basically everything was regulated and it was, take it or leave it.

It put the supplier in a very, very strong position and, unfortunately, those rules are still with us today, even though the market itself has moved to a - what I mean by "the market" is our products that we sell are unregulated and we are still stuck with these old anticompetitive rules that are very much weighed in favour of the gas supplier.  And I'll give you some examples.  We cannot buy gas, for example, from multiple suppliers.  I must buy gas from one party.  A second, you know, condition is that, through the contracts - our contract for a take or pay quantity of gas, three year contract - a year through the contract if I lose a customer or, my gas consumption is down or I develop a more efficient way or heating or manufacturing the product, then that extra gas that I have, I'm stuck with, I am not allowed to sell it to a third party.

I mean, it's my gas.  I've bought it but I'm not allowed under the contract to sell it.  So what's my choice?  I've got to give it up, give it back to the supplier free of charge.  I mean, how fair is that?  So these are just two examples, but the whole tone of the documents is all sort of very one sided - When you're dealing with these companies my experience has been that they're very arrogant, "Take it or leave it", "That's the condition, mate", "That's just the way it is.  If you don't like it, well, go somewhere else."  Well, we don't have many places to go to seeing that all the contracts are the same.  And, of course, the most serious sort of problem is lack of transparency which I'll elaborate on later.

Especially in regard to the information they give you, during negotiations and later on when they're billing you, you just are completely left in the dark.  Now, the other problem in the whole system is you have two parties in that you're dealing with a gas supplier - it may be an Origin or an AGL or Energy Australia - they supply you the gas, but the gas is being transported by other parties, the pipeline owners. In some cases it could be two pipeline owners and two separate entities.  However, your relationship is with the supplier and when problems arise with a pipeline very often the supplier says, "Well, that's a pipeline problem; it's not my problem."  You go to the pipeline company and say, "Well, we've got a problem," and he says, "Well, no, go back to your supplier; you don't have a contract with me."

So they play this game where you're like a football.  You're just thrown from one to the other and no one wants to talk to you and take on responsibility.  Now, the other example is in regard to the volume of gas you've contracted within the pipeline.  So you've contracted with your supplier but you have an indirect contract with the pipeline company, but a lot of the rules and conditions of that contract, the volume contract - what's called the maximum sort of daily demand or chargeable demand - the conditions of that are set by the pipeline company.

And very often the rules are written in such a way that the pipeline companies are making the decisions on what the maximum Chargeable Demand is.  So they're, in effect, the judge and jury and they interpret it in such a way that it favours them. Very often in business, gas demand goes up and down and you need to change this Chargeable Demand. It's very easy to increase it - they're very glad to increase it - but when it comes to reducing it, it's very, very difficult.  You have to wait 12 months.

The definition of this Daily Chargeable Demand, is they take the ninth highest day in the last 12 months and they take that ninth highest day and that's your demand, and that's locked in, but if you want to reduce it. I mean, we had a contract we lost recently and the notice was three months.  So even though we lost the business, we couldn't reduce the Chargeable Demand for 12 months, but not from the day that we gave them notice or were informed; no, it had to be from the day that our actual use dropped.

Now, we're talking serious money here. Its $15,000 a month we pay in Network Fees.  For 12 months that's $180,000 and you're locked in; You can't get out.  They interpret it and the word is if there's a "material and permanent change" to the customer's gas demand, but it's very difficult. I mean, that's been our experience, that they're very reluctant to decrease the Chargeable Demand and they interpret it very, very narrowly.

The other issue I want to talk about is the attitude of the pipeline companies, and it's come through when you're dealing with them, it is, "Well, you know, we can't lose.  We shouldn't lose.  If, the gas demand goes down and we have less customers we still need to earn the same revenue so we'll just, push up the cost, the charges, to the existing people."  Well, I certainly or many business in Australia can't do that.  I can't say, if I lose a customer I can't just put the price up for everyone else, and all ends up is, it makes us even less competitive and it's a death spiral, and that's what's happening.  Now, I don't know who negotiated these conditions for the pipeline companies when they sold, be it the government or whatever, these rules that these guys can't lose because it's cost-plus recovery, but in this environment where demand is contracting it's absolutely lethal for business.

Now, the next area I want to talk about is what I mentioned earlier, the lack of transparency.  I looked at our records which are past invoices and in 2005 we were paying $8,920 a month for Transmission, and what Transmission means is it's a fee for getting the gas from the gas field to Sydney.  The Network Fee is to get it from Sydney to Newcastle to our gate.  So this Transmission Fee in 2005 was $8,920 a month.  In 2008 it jumped to $12,600 and in 2015 it was $25,342.  Now, the quantity of gas we use has not gone up, in fact, it's gone down a little, and yet the transmission fee has almost tripled within - I think in 2014 it was the same - in less than ten years - huge increase.

Now, there have been no new pipelines built.  Sydney to Moomba was built in the 70s under Rex Connor.  The South East Pipeline from Victoria to New South Wales I think was built either 15, 20 years ago.  So why has there been this tripling of the transmission fee?  My attempts to try to find out when I ask questions are met with a brick wall.  When I ask my supplier he goes, "Well, that's a Transmission Fee.  It's not up to us.  That's a pipeline matter; go talk to them."  You talk to the Pipeline Company and they say, "You have no contract with us; we  can't talk to you."

So we've had this huge increase. If you look at the increase, I mean, it shouldn't have gone up because, as I said, there have been no new pipelines.  Their costs couldn't have gone up that much.  Even if it had gone up with inflation it'd probably be 3% a year or something - so 30%, 40%, not, 300% or 280%.  So what's going on?  How can the cost increase so dramatically?

Right now our costs - we are buying the gas for around $6 to $6.20, I think, something in that range, but it's costing us $4 to $6 transport it to the plant, depending on our use in a particular month.  So if you look at that, globally, that's a huge cost where up to 50% of your cost is in transport - huge number.  Now, someone somewhere looks like, is making quite a good return at the expense of us manufacturers.

And Looking at - the share price of the pipeline companies and I noticed APA's shares at the time when we were paying $8,920, their shares  in 2008 were around $2 to $2.50.  At one stage recently they hit $10; now they're $8.75.  Now, I don't know about Jemena because they're not a public company; they're not listed.  But I don't know too many manufacturers where their shares have gone up as dramatically. All I know is my transmission cost tripled and the share price of the company that's transporting it has more than tripled – it has quadrupled.  You may, make your own judgment. This thing needs to be looked at.

This huge transport cost like I said, which is, 40% to 50% of our cost, we've been asking around and last year I went to a presentation from Energy Advice who are our consultants on gas and electricity, and during the presentation they said right now gas customers in Korea, in South Korea, are paying 20% less for their gas than we are in Australia.  And that's a gas importing country and we are a gas exporting country.  And he said some of the gas in South Korea is from Australia.

Now, our competitors in South Korea are buying their gas 20% cheaper. I did some investigation.  The price of the gas itself is the same. In fact, they'd probably be paying more for the gas, transporting it to Korea, so the landed gas in Korea is definitely higher than our gas at the field.  So where's the difference?  Well, the difference is in the transport cost.  Their delivery cost of the gas, I'm sure, must be a lot less than what we're paying.

And this is a problem we face - not just Korea but China - but I just wanted to give that particular example because I have some figures and I know the case.  So what's the answer?  Okay, let's look at the transmission cost and the lack of competition with the pipelines, unequal bargaining power between the customer and us and the pipelines. Of course, the other factor - and I don't know if we can do anything here - is the gas in New South Wales all mostly comes from interstate, so it's being transported long distances.

I don't think we can do much about that but perhaps if the State governments in New South Wales and Victoria stopped locking up the gas, then if we found indigenous gas in New South Wales that was close - I mean, there's gas under my plant in the Hunter Valley; there's coal seams under there.  There's gas in the Gunnedah Basin which is not very far.  If gas was to be developed in those markets we could get it down to my plant not for $4 or $6 but maybe 50 cents or $1.  And I really don't see Queensland being environmentally damaged or being an environmental disaster, as some of the people claim.  They've been looking, finding gas and developing it for 15 years. But, that's another question.

Now, I'm glad to say that recently, meaning the last eight months, Jemena has made an effort to talk to us as a customer directly and, as a result of them doing so, we've made some positive progress on some issues, and one of them was metering data. Because we can't talk to the pipeline companies every time we wanted sort of consumption data, metering data, because we can use it in our production and can fine tune and improve our efficiencies.  Well, that took about a year but finally they talked to us and very recently - three or four months - they've agreed to give us access to the data, which is great.  But that shows you, as an example, what can be achieved to improve the situation.

But there's more than can be done.  We've asked them, for example, for a parking facility within the pipeline.  This is very common in the United States, lots of pipeline companies do it, and what you do is you buy some gas in advance or your buy spot gas and then you park it - you pay a fee - in case there's a problem or a delay or whatever.  Now, we've had a number of meetings, it's been six months and still nothing's resolved. That's because there's no pressure on them; they don't have to do anything.  But if there was some mechanism where they were incentivised or, forced to be a little bit more cooperative, it would be a big help for us, the industry.

The other area that needs reform is the language used by these organisations with customers.  Now, English is my second language and it's taken me time to master it, however, I still cannot understand what these guys are talking about when they start negotiating with gas.  They use technical terms and jargon.  I believe they use it to confuse the customer to the extent that we very often have to engage consultants to help us translate what they're saying, what it all means. That's a cost; it's huge cost every time.

What we would like is some plain language, plain speaking, simple terms in the contracts and during negotiations.  And terms should be clear. MDQ, Maximum Daily Quota or, Chargeable Demand, now, the suppliers use MDQ, the pipelines use Chargeable Demand, and sometimes they interchange them and so you don't know what is what  they're slightly different, and through this difference they take advantage of, the customers.  So if changes could be made for some plain English used for contracts, that would be a big help.

I think these are basically the main issues that I want to raise, but I'll say this.  Unless, something is done pretty quickly, manufacturing on the east coast is really under threat.  I think the Greens should be aware that there is a new threatened species and that's called "manufacturers" that need protection rather than some of the other species.  We employ people.  My guys have families and they have mortgages and, unfortunately, a lot of people, all they want to do is shut everything down instead of saying, "Well, let's not shut it down.  Let's keep it open and solve whatever problems come with science and technology," which can be done.

As I said, United States is, developing its gas and I think having more supply would definitely help.  That is a big issue and I think that the other issue is reforming - and fixing some of these other issues, as I've said, of balancing between customer, the negotiating power, and simplifying and reforming the whole process so that, if I want to buy gas off a small supplier in Central Australia, well, I should be able to buy that, negotiate the pipeline cost, whatever it may be.  I should know what it's costing.  I don't even know where my gas comes from.  I don't know.  It could be from Moomba, could be from Queensland, could be from Victoria; I don't know.

And shouldn't I know where my gas comes from and what the transport cost is?  For all I know these guys could be swapping the gas and charging me a fortune and not actually physically transporting the gas.  So we would like a system where the market is deregulated, fully deregulated, where I can buy and sell what I want, when I want, to whoever I want.  Same as the products I produce are traded; there's no restrictions, there's no regulation.  Aluminium is freely traded, right; I'm competing on the open market.

And yet, in Australia - and that's the whole problem in this country right now - you have an unregulated market out there with free trade agreements coming, one after another, so really opening up the market, and yet we have a regulated energy market, - its regulated in that supply is limited and then the whole negotiating sort of situation.  Secondly, labour is regulated. I have to pay two and a half times penalty rates on Sundays so all labour is regulated. OH&S has gone berserk and there’s all sorts of other costs if you try and get approval for anything.  Taxes are very high.  My guys complain; even guys on the floor are paying ridiculous amounts of tax.

So what does it all mean?  It means we're in a race, because business is a race, like swimming.  I'm swimming with one arm tied behind my back whereas my competitors in China and Korea and the Middle East are producing aluminium, processing it, with none of these burdens that we have.  Not only that, in some cases they're actually subsidised.  I can buy gas in Qatar supplied by the government for $2 per gigajoule.  Now, I'm not advocating a domestic gas policy.  All I'm saying is, whatever you're going to do, just have a level playing field.  Either it's totally unregulated or it's regulated.  You can't have half/half, where we're, as I said, trying to swim with one arm behind your back.  And, guess what, you can't do that for very long.  Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Thank you for that.  I might just ask a couple of questions--

MR SIMONIAN:  Sure.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  --and then my colleagues will do that, but that was certainly a clear exposition of the issues.  You said that you had someone willing to supply you gas and you could not get a pipeline connection.

MR SIMONIAN:  Yes.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  And are you saying there was no reason given for that?  It wasn't capacity--

MR SIMONIAN:  No, the--

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  --on the pipeline?

MR SIMONIAN:  The supplier, the potential supplier, said to me that it's very difficult, to connect.  He said they just make it so difficult for the quantity of gas he had which was, I think, because it's coming from a mine, it's degassing a mine, so it's not like a gas field, but--

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  So he didn't actually have a pipeline connection?

MR SIMONIAN:  He didn't have a pipeline connection to the main pipeline network, so the problem was connecting to the network.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  And that, presumably, would be quite expensive to do?

MR SIMONIAN:  Well, it was expensive - yes.  Well, the pipeline company said they would do the job.  They're very reluctant to allow a third party, but then they want to charge you and, they quote such a high price and also all these conditions that it becomes prohibitive.  So what we should do is change the rules so it's easier for third parties to connect; not only that but to use contractors to do it and not be, slowed down and blocked by the pipeline owners.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  So another way, as it were, to almost build your own pipeline?

MR SIMONIAN:  Well, no, just make it easier to connect, that, you--

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  But someone's got to pay the cost of getting the--

MR SIMONIAN:  Yes.  Well, if it's private enterprise it'll be a fraction of what the pipeline companies quote so, yes, get a third party to build it.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  You mentioned anticompetitive rules in relation to supply agreements--

MR SIMONIAN:  Yes.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  --but presumably those are rules by the supplying companies themselves; they're not government rules?

MR SIMONIAN:  They're not but they're sort of almost vestiges left from the days when, as I said, it was a, government body or government organisation, a lot of these rules, and they're very reluctant to change them.  And when you see them they're all the same because there was probably a template from AGL and everyone's copied the same because it gives them so much power.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Okay.  But they are private companies themselves who are imposing these rules--

MR SIMONIAN:  Yes.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  --so it's not really a problem of government rules so much as the private companies themselves, presumably?

MR SIMONIAN:  Well, I presume so.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Sorry, I'm just trying to understand.

MR SIMONIAN:  Yeah, yeah, sure.  No, it's not government.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  And you mentioned the transmission data that you are now getting.  Could you just explain how that helps you?

MR SIMONIAN:  The data, the metering data?

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Yes.

MR SIMONIAN:  Yes.  What we do is - I think my plant manager can now access almost immediately through computer how much gas was used the day before.  Now, the way it helps us is, because we have a maximum demand per day, if we go above that we're penalised.  So, by quickly accessing immediately what our use is, he can make sure he stays below that and levelling out the production so that, gradually, we can (a) not go over and, secondly, if we can level it out and reduce our Chargeable Demand, that would save us some money.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  So he's getting, what, real time transmission use?

MR SIMONIAN:  I believe so, yes.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Right, and wasn't able--

MR SIMONIAN:  Not real time - I'm not sure if real or - definitely the day before so he can quickly look at the production, how many hours and that's it, and that's very helpful. Before we had no access. We used to get it a month later.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  And just get charged whatever the charge rate--

MR SIMONIAN:  Whatever.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  But presumably that data must be coming, to adjust the use - is it data about what you're using or data about--

MR SIMONIAN:  Yes, what we're using.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  --use on the pipeline?

MR SIMONIAN:  No, what we're using.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  So it's going to be after the fact data?

MR SIMONIAN:  Yeah, but if you can see - I think he's got real time, so if you can see that you're creeping up and, you know, for example, it's been 20 hours and you're almost there then you say, "Right, guys, we'll turn this furnace off," or do something else.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Yes, okay, that explains it.  Can I turn to others for questions now while I'm looking at my sheet?

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  Before going into any questions over what you have said, Mr Simonian, you mentioned the Hunter Gas Pipeline.

MR SIMONIAN:  Yes.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  Would you like to say something about that in terms of what has happened?

MR SIMONIAN:  Well, the gas pipeline goes from - the whole reason we started it was I was a gas user and a group of likeminded individuals joined in 2005.  Because of the lack of competition we wanted to have more competition in the Hunter because Newcastle is at the end of the line, and we paid the highest price gas in New South Wales, or probably Australia.  So we decided to bring more competition and one way was to build a pipeline to Wallumbilla through the Gunnedah Basin because we knew that the Gunnedah Basin was going to be developed.

However, what, three years ago Barry O'Farrell one day went up and just basically shut the - well, didn't shut it, it's not shut, but it's so difficult that, for practical reasons, CSG development in New South Wales has come almost to a halt, and for that reason we have a ten year approval in place that was given in 2009, so we have approval till 2019 for a high pressure gas pipeline.  However, it's on hold.  The project's on hold because there is no gas along the route to transport.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  And so it's not worthwhile building it just to access Wallumbilla?

MR SIMONIAN:  Well, no, because the LNG plants suck up the gas.  There is no excess supply in Wallumbilla.  I think the main source will be the Gunnedah Basin, Narrabri and all along the route of the pipeline.  And there's plenty of gas there.  I mean, I've had discussions with Santos but the government's making it pretty difficult for practical reasons by - the demands that they're making are unreasonable, in my view, some of the technical demands that they want and studies done.  It's basically a kind of excuse to just block and stop it.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  And how far did you get down the process?  Did you do feasibility studies and costings on a pipeline?

MR SIMONIAN:  Absolutely.  We did Front End Engineering.  We spent $16 million.  We're not talking peanuts here.  I mean, this was - we had approval from Queensland Government, New South Wales and also the EPBC from the Feds.  So we are serious.  I mean, it was all going on track, as I said.  We had actually put it to tender to get a joint venture partner or an investor at one point and we had eight people interested.  The minute the State government, Barry, shut the gate, all the gas companies left the State and the customers disappeared.  I mean, why would you build a pipeline if you can't get the gas out?

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  And did you speak to any of the current pipeline operators in terms of them building a pipeline for you?

MR SIMONIAN:  Absolutely, yes, and I'm still speaking to them but I have to be careful because I don't want to increase the - you know, I want more competition, not less.  So that's a factor that we have to take into account.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  Okay.  So it was one of the options to potentially go with one of the existing pipeline operators or to build it yourself or--

MR SIMONIAN:  No.  No, no, we looked at - we had a number of third parties.  There were eight parties interested.  Two of them were the existing and there were another six, and the pipeline - well, anyway, they've disappeared at this stage; no one's there until the situation changes.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  And in terms of the discussions that you were having with Jemena about parking gas--

MR SIMONIAN:  Yes.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  --you indicated that you've been talking to them for some months.

MR SIMONIAN:  Yes.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  They didn't give you a clear indication as to whether that was possible or not, or did they?

MR SIMONIAN:  Look, they said they were looking at a number of options.  We've had - the last meeting we had was about a month ago and they said they're working on it and I do believe they genuinely are trying, but it's not easy for a large organisation.  They had a number of options they say they were looking at.  In some cases I suggested some other options, so they're working on it.  But we're now seriously looking at changing our gas purchasing model because of all these problem.  We're going to buy spot gas from the hub in Sydney.  That has its positives and negatives.

Positives are that we're not beholden to this transmission fee and we will save some money because we're really under pressure.  We need to cut costs.  We cannot continue paying these gas prices; we can't.  So I think end of September we'll switch, and we are already making preparations.  The downside is we don't have a contract so we're buying three days in advance, spot, so if there's a spike in the market we're vulnerable to that.  But we have made a decision that's the way we're going to go.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  And is your plant one that's capable of being shut down if the spot market moves too far?

MR SIMONIAN:  We are fortunate that we can shut furnaces down, if we have like a day's notice, or some time, that we can shut it down, unlike glass manufacturers, for example, who can't.  Ours is a batch operation.  And sort of in the past, I guess, where we have done it when there was the explosion at Moomba and all that in the past, so we can cope with short term, but if we could - "short term" meaning weeks, I guess, of not using gas, but that's why we wanted to do the parking.  So if we can park, I don't know, three, four weeks' worth of gas in a pipeline somewhere or store it - and that's why it would be important, very important, to have this service - then we could - gives us some comfort and security.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  Have you investigated any other potential sources of storage of gas?

MR SIMONIAN:  Yeah, I've looked at compressed gas, looked at LNG, even looked at longer term putting a biogas plant, it all being - I mean, I'm developing an industrial ecology park around my plant and there's a company that's trying to build an energy from waste plant, a gasifier, but these things may happen or may not.  They take time.   But another option I'm working on is a biogas, composting organics to produce gas.  Now, it may not supply all my needs but some of it.  But, definitely, yes, we're looking at everything.

So we're talking survival here, and when the knife's here you look at everything, and this is why I'm saying the situation is grim, and it's very upsetting because I don't think the politicians realise how serious the situation is. What's it going to take, if BlueScope shuts and this shuts and that shuts?  But also it's impacting on our clients.  I mean, BlueScope is a client of ours, Tomago Aluminium is a client, so if they are affected, we are affected.  So it's not just the direct cost.

I can control my gas or my costs but some of my customers can't because they don't have a batch operation; they're continuous.  So the situation is very serious and what upsets me is there's no need for any of this.  There's no need.  You know, the politicians just, pander to these minority groups, do gooders, who are misguided, because I'm a greenie - I am also chairman of Industrial Ecology Australia, which I founded, so I know a lot about sustainability and, you don't just shut things; you keep things open but solve the problem and have a circular economy, or whatever, recycled, but the situation in manufacturing is very, very serious; it's dire.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  What happens in New South Wales is one matter.  Obviously gas can come from other States.

MR SIMONIAN:  Yes.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  So, whilst the New South Wales issues are obviously pertinent, they're not the whole story, are they?

MR SIMONIAN:  That's true, however, at what cost?  This is what I'm saying.  If it's going to cost $6 - if the gas is $6 and then you're paying another $6 for transport, what's the point of having gas?  It's like, you know, if you can't afford it, who cares what price it is?  If you can't afford it, you can't afford it.  It'll drive you out of business.  We can't continue paying these prices.  And part of the problem is not the gas cost, as I said, we believe, because gas cost $6. Global commodity competition we can accept.  But, $4 to $6 to transport it; that's, ridiculous.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  One of the difficulties I was having understanding your evidence was really the terms of your contract because it seems, if you don't know where your gas is coming from, you contract is actually just for gas effectively delivered to your plant; is that right?

MR SIMONIAN:  Yes.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  And yet you're being charged a separate item, or a number of separate items, for actual transportation, either transmission or distribution?

MR SIMONIAN:  Correct, and I don't know what the breakdown is of that.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  Is that a feature of all the quotes that you get from whichever supplier you talk to?

MR SIMONIAN:  They seem to be quite similar, yes.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  So they charge you an amount for the actual commodity and then a separate amount for transportation?

MR SIMONIAN:  So there's, yes, two amounts, two large amounts for the transportation, the Network Fee, which is the local transport, and then the Transmission Fee from the gas field to Sydney.  And then there's all these bits and pieces that they're adding on, all these fees, which may not seem much but I've noticed again, looking at my invoices over the years, they're adding up, and they do add up.  I mean, up until recently we were paying the carbon tax.  Now, as a typical example, we didn't have the power to pass on that carbon tax to our customers.  They're strong; they're stronger than we are.  Rio Tinto, BlueScope Steel, how can you stand up to them?  They just said, "We're not going to pay it" - Tomago Aluminium.  So we were paying $200,000 a year in carbon taxes.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  Okay, well, that might be a separate issue for us--

MR SIMONIAN:  Yes.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  --but the transportation costs, I mean, do you have any negotiation with the suppliers in respect of what those items will be?

MR SIMONIAN:  No, they won't tell you.  They just say, "That's it."

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  So they reserve the right, obviously, to source the gas from wherever they choose?

MR SIMONIAN:  That's right.  They say, "We'll source it," and we'll, you know, pay it.  It varies.  They say it varies from time to time.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  But they don't seek to justify what the transmission charge represents?

MR SIMONIAN:  Absolutely not.  I've had no success in getting any information or breakdown or whatever.  They just stonewall us.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  So you do know that that is the transmission cost from the transition company?

MR SIMONIAN:  Yes, it's on my invoice.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  Well, there's an item on your invoice but you don't necessarily know if that's an amount that's being charged by the pipeline or--

MR SIMONIAN:  No.  No, I don't know what's being charged by the pipeline company to the supplier.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  That's right, so it's a number put there by the person from whom you bought the gas?

MR SIMONIAN:  Yes.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  And they can't give you a breakdown of what that is?

MR SIMONIAN:  They won't.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Do they tell you that it is the price that they're paying the transmission company?

MR SIMONIAN:  They say that that's what it's costing them, they're just passing it through, but I don't know.  I'm sure there's some profit in there because, if they're charging the gas, what it is in the field - now, I don't know if they're making a margin on the gas, I'm sure they are, but they could also be making a margin on the transmission; they don't deny that.  I don't think it's a straight pass through.  I don't know.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Well, as you say, $5 or $6 is a very high transportation cost.

MR SIMONIAN:  Well, that's what it's costing us, yes.

MR BALL:  Do you get a breakdown of the transmission costs and the distribution or network costs; do they appear as two separate items on your--

MR SIMONIAN:  Yes, they'll have the Network cost, Transmission cost, and cost of gas, and then there's all these bits and pieces - metering charges, et cetera.

MR BALL:  Have the network costs been going up in the same way as the transmission costs?

MR SIMONIAN:  Not as dramatically as the transmission cost, and the reason for that is, I think, three, four years ago Jemena reapplied - I think they were worried about the Wallumbilla pipeline come in and they rejigged it and introduced what's called a "postage stamp" rate.  So in the network whether you transport the gas 10 km or 150 km you pay the same amount.  So what happened was our costs didn't go up over time but those companies in Sydney were paying much more.  So the end result is, I think, just luck that, they rejigged it.  That's why my network fees haven't gone up.  It's not because they haven't gone up; it's just other people's have gone up and ours have stayed relatively low - they have gone up but not so much.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  I'm going to show my appalling ignorance here, and I've got a feeling everybody on this side of the table is going to answer the question, but I'll still ask it anyway.  So if you buy spot gas from Sydney, don't you still have to arrange to it transported--

MR SIMONIAN:  Only the Network Fee.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  That's what I'm saying, yes.

MR SIMONIAN:  Yeah.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Yes, you've got to do that.

MR SIMONIAN:  Yeah, but not the Transmission Fee, which is the large amount.  Yes.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  I understand that, but you've still got to pay the Network Fee--

MR SIMONIAN:  Yes.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  --and you've worked that out and that's--

MR SIMONIAN:  Yes, that's okay at this stage.  It hasn't gone up dramatically.  Look, going up 2%, 3% a year is okay but not the massive--

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  You don't have trouble with the local network distribution company; the fee is what the fee is there?

MR SIMONIAN:  No, there's a formula and we know what it is and we can work it out.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Right.

MR SIMONIAN:  So the Network Fee is better.  As I said, Jemena is talking to us.  So having the information and how it's calculated, we try to become more efficient and level out our use in order to push the Maximum Daily Demand down.  However, you know, the interpretation of the maximum - our problems with the network fee are different issues.  The interpretation of the Daily Demand and the fact that you have to wait 12 months to reap the benefit and, you have to continue paying -  even though, for example, our contract has ended - we had, I think, a two year or three year contract.  The contract ends end of September and I still have to pay that network fee.  I cannot change it.

If I said, "Well, at the end of the month we're shutting one of our furnaces and our demand is going down, I don't know, say 30% and I want to reduce my MDQ," I can't; I have to wait 12 months.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  No, I understand.

MR SIMONIAN:  Yeah, you understand.  Yeah.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  But the Network Fee you do have visibility on.  It's the Transmission fee?

MR SIMONIAN:  Yeah, I don't have details, no information.  I don't know--

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Of either the Network or the Transmission?

MR SIMONIAN:  No, the Transmission.  I have no information on the Transmission.  The Network Fee is better.  I have some calculation designs and how they work it out.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Sure.

MR PHILP:  You said earlier as well that, particularly with regard to Jemena, I think, that they needed an incentive to operate differently.  What do you reckon that might look like?

MR SIMONIAN:  Sorry, just can you--

MR PHILP:  You mentioned earlier that with regard to all this - and particularly, I think, you mentioned Jemena needed an incentive to operate differently - any thoughts on what that incentive might look like?

MR SIMONIAN:  I don't know, but all I know is you need to - well, it's going to be tough for them.  I mean, yes, you can have incentives - no, I don't.  The answer to your question is, no, but I can think about it and come up with some ideas.  But the problem is the market is shrinking so they're in a no win situation.  Now, someone's got to lose and they don't want to lose, and so they're going to try and shift as much of the loss as they can on to the market, be it the household consumer or industry.  And this is what I object to.  Why should there be the two sets of rules where they can't lose yet we in business, we're up into the markets and if things go down we lose anyhow, or up and down, and go down, our revenues?

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Any other questions?

MR JOSE:  You mentioned earlier about the types of clauses that you had issues with in your retail supply contract.  You mentioned that you can't buy gas from multiple suppliers and that you're not allowed to resell the gas.  Another issue that's been raised with the inquiry has been about limitations of liability for non‑delivery.  Have you had any issue with gas not being delivered and the supplier seeking to limit its liability in those circumstances?

MR SIMONIAN:  Yes, I have.  A number of years ago we were told to curtail and I wanted to know why - a fair question, "Why should we curtail?" - and I wasn't given a satisfactory answer.  "Oh, there's problems.  The pressure's dropped."  I said, "But why has the pressure dropped in the pipeline?"  It's like, "Oh, well, the pressure's dropped.  You have to curtail."  I said, "Well, I'm not curtaining," and I didn't curtail and I was, an exception, I guess, but I wouldn't curtail, and then it transpired years later, or some time later, that AGL - there was a shortage of electricity in South Australia - was diverting the gas to South Australia to make a windfall profit.

Now, legally, I couldn't say they could do that but, from my perspective, I thought the idea was you'd curtail when there was an explosion or act of God or force majeure, not for the supplier of the gas or the gas supplier to make a windfall profit.

MR JOSE:  Do you know what your contract says - so if you had to source alternative case, if it was actually not delivered to you and you had to source alternative gas, do you know what your contract says?

MR SIMONIAN:  I cannot sue for damages or loss of profit or anything like that; I know that.  That's what I mean.  The contract is written in such a way and it's very much, you know, one way.  You just do what you're told.  And then also, "We don't have to give you reasons," and that's a very good example of what exactly, I meant.  They don't have to give you a reason.  You have to accept it, but it doesn't mean I follow that 'cause I'm a practical sort of guy and I believe in fairness.  Now, they can write whatever they bloody well want.  At the end of the day, if they want to sue me, let them sue me in a court of law and see what happens.  I don't know if they'll get up but, what the hell, I didn't curtail.

COMMISSIONER WALKER:  Do you have any scope to convert your plant from gas to any other energy source?

MR SIMONIAN:  We've looked at it.  No, not really.  It has to be gas because, when you're melting metal, you want a lot of heat very quickly and gas is the best.  In Japan, in Asia, some plants use bunker oil, but environmentally that's very dirty, a lot of sulphur dioxide and emissions and all that.  There are other options.  I mean, you can't eliminate it.  You can reduce the gas use by using some alternative fuels or changing the mix, you know, within the furnace, using some fluxes, but, really, it's difficult for our business to eliminate gas use.

MR JOSE:  You investigated storage options.  So for storage options such as compression or LNG, how do the economics of that stack up for a user of your scale?

MR SIMONIAN:  It was quite expensive because you have to not only transport it but you have to store it and, Australia is a high cost country.  So, for example, the best storage capacity we could get on the back of a semi was about 200 gigajoules, 200 to 250, and we use 500 a day, so we need two trucks continuously.  And then it takes time to compress it and so it's quite expensive.  I actually looked at compressed gas years ago and went to Argentina and I've seen it in a number of countries where they use it.  It's quite labour intensive and also there are issues of safety as well.

With our OH&S laws and risk, et cetera, where very high it adds to the cost.  I'm not saying it can't be done.  Everything can be done but it adds to the cost.

MR JOSE:  Did you get a sense of scale?  Would it become more economic at a larger scale or--

MR SIMONIAN:  No, I don't think so.  I think it's more the cost, you know, the volume you need to invest in - basically tanks and trucks and, you know, the whole thing.  Now, the cost of the tanks is coming down because China can manufacture them and that cost is coming down, but it's still quite high.  LNG is a better option on scale, but the price would still be high for us.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Okay.  Thank you very much for your time today.

MR SIMONIAN:  Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  That was very, very helpful and we'll now conclude this part of the hearing and we'll recommence in just under ten minutes' time at quarter past 10 with our next part of the hearing. 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW

SHORT ADJOURNMENT

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  A few formalities I need to get through.  This is a public hearing, pursuant to 95R of the CCA, in relation to our East Coast Gas inquiry.  My name is Rod Sims, Chairman of the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission.  Commissioner Roger Featherston and Commissioner Jill Walker are also presiding.  I get the staff members to introduce themselves.

MR PHILP:  Brenton Philp, the inquiry staff.

MR JOSE:  Jeremy Jose, inquiry staff.

MR LOWERY:  James Lowery, inquiry staff.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Okay, as I mentioned - so the hearing today is open to the members of the public, but as I've mentioned previously, the Commission is taking sworn evidence from people who have accepted our invitation to do so.  So really the discussion is with yourselves, so if I could ask the observers to respect that.  A transcript of the hearing is being recorded and will be made available to you.  I assume you understand that and I also assume you've received a copy of the notes for witnesses in relation to this inquiry.  Can you please confirm that you have?

MR DAVIES:  Yes.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Thank you.  Now having said the hearing is open to the public, if you wish to give any confidential information to us, please let us know and we'll consider that and see whether we break off the public hearing to do so.  Now as I understand, you've already - you have provided documents to us.  Do you have any additional documents you want to provide now?

MS CARTWRIGHT:  No.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Thank you.  Before commencing the hearing, I have to remind you it's a criminal offence to give evidence that you know to be false or misleading.  Do you understand that?

MS CARTWRIGHT:  Yes.

MR DAVIES:  Yes.

<CHERYL CARTWRIGHT, SWORN

 FILLIN "(hh.ddAM/PM)" \* MERGEFORMAT (10.19AM)
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CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Now could I please get you both to state your name, address and occupation for the purposes of the transcript, thank you?

MS CARTWRIGHT:  Cheryl Cartwright, chief executive APGA, 7 National Circuit, Barton.

MR DAVIES:  Steve Davies, national policy manager APGA, 7 National Circuit, Barton.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Thank you very much.  I think that completes the formalities, I've got it right this time.  Please over to you, we'd welcome hearing your opening statements, thank you.

MS CARTWRIGHT:  Thank you.  We thank the Commission for this opportunity to directly address the East Coast Gas inquiry, Australian Pipelines and Gas Association is the peak body representing Australia's gas transmission industry.  Our members build, own and operate the gas transmission infrastructure connecting Australia's gas supply basins and demand centres.  We'd like to make these specific points first.  The contract carriage framework has allowed the gas transmission industry to develop services and infrastructure in response to market requirements.  This industry activity has created the east coast gas grid.  There's been a strong focus on pipeline capacity and the pipeline industry has responded with new services and platforms to facilitate enhanced trade.  A strong secondary market will take time to fully develop and without an increase in supply, no amount of capacity, availability or trading will increase the amount of gas available to end users.  Liquidity in case supply will come through more competition.  That means more producers and more supply agreements containing increasingly flexible options.  Already pipeline contracts have become more flexible in response to changing market requirements.

Now a little more detail about the gas transmission.  Transportation and associated services are sold on an open and non discriminatory basis, through negotiated bilateral contracts.  It's important to recognise the role the transmission industry and private investment have played in contributing to the development of the interconnected east coast gas market.  After an early history, largely driven by government investment, the private sector continued development and investment in pipeline infrastructure and this was enabled by the contract carriage framework.  It is this investment that's led to today's interconnected east coast gas grid.  Since 1999, new pipelines, such as New South Wales Victoria interconnect, the Eastern Gas Pipeline, the Tasmanian Gas Pipeline, SEA Gas Pipeline, and the QSN Link, have provided access to new markets for producers and increased options for users.  This has materially increased competition in the east coast gas market.  If the north-east gas interconnector pipeline goes ahead, linking the Northern Territory with the east coast market, it will be a further extension of the east coast grid, opening up more competition in the market.

These investments, like most investments, in the natural gas supply chain were made possible through negotiated bilateral contracts primarily long term contracts.  Long term contracts are important risk management and allocation tool in many industries and the gas industry is no exception.  Producers use long term contracts to secure markets for their capital intensive production and processing facilities.  Users of gas use long term contracts to secure supply, in order to help justify investment in their facilities.  Pipeline owners use long term contracts to manage their risks, due to lack of control over future supply and demand requirements and to secure lower cost debt financing.  The long term contracts historically favoured by the gas transmission industry and its customers have been developed through negotiation between large, sophisticated parties.  Consistent with Australia's competition policy, the National Gas Law is a safeguard, in circumstances where negotiated outcomes are unable to be achieved.

A firm capacity provides large gas users with supply certainty for their capital intensive gas plant.  A firm capacity provides suppliers, whether producers or retailers, with the certainty that they can get gas to markets and meet the needs of their customers at all times.  A firm capacity provides gas transmission companies with the risk management strategy that makes them attractive long term investments in capital markets.  The Commission is well aware of the structural change underway in the east coast gas market, as a development of the three LNG facilities in Gladstone nears completion.  Clearly, the gas market has a new centre of gravity.  The gas transmission industry has responded to this challenge with new investments that deliver increased capabilities to all market participants.  Naturally, the customers that enter long term contracts that enable the investments, have the best opportunity to use these capabilities.

For example, major pipelines are installing capabilities to allow gas to flow in either direction, in response to changes in demand.  Major pipelines are expanding to meet exporter's need for third party gas.  Major pipelines are building new interconnections to more efficiently facilitate the market's requirements.  Negotiated third party access has enabled this investment in new and existing pipelines, ensuring pipeline capacity is available to meet market needs.  Gas transmission companies are also recognising the market's changing requirements, regarding contract duration.  As supply arrangements become shorter term, transportation arrangements are changing to meet shipper requirements.  As a result, gas transmission companies are demonstrating a willingness to take on more risk.  Investing in new projects under contract arrangements that are made on shorter terms, than the historical average.  The gas transmission industry readily innovates in service delivery and has introduced new services to reflect the increasing capabilities of pipelines and the requirements of market participants.

Shippers have always had the contractual right to trade capacity.  The operational capacity transfer service allows obligations and rights to be more readily transferred between parties, when trading capacity.  Capacity listing platforms have been developed to allow parties to more transparently signal demand and availability of secondary capacity.  New services have been introduced to facilitate trades at the Wallumbilla supply hub.  Our members tell us, there is increasing interest in augmenting arrangements with storage and flexible services.  Also, the transmission industry has been innovative in responding to policy maker's concerns and developing new services and infrastructure for the market during this period of structural change.

The attention of recent years on secondary capacity largely arose from concerns of the operation of the Wallumbilla supply hub, then in development, could be impeded by a lack of capacity trading.  The hub has now been in place for almost 18 months.  There have been no difficulties in trading gas and with almost 900 trades already undertaken, it's apparent that capacity trading has not limited the trading of gas through Wallumbilla.  A strong secondary capacity market provides participants with more flexibility and enhanced risk management options, complementing arrangements in primary markets.  We've put in place a framework to enable development of a strong secondary market.  In developing the capacity trading platforms, the gas transmission industry worked with shippers to develop the services and platforms that they needed to make capacity trades simpler, easier and lower cost.  APGA developed guidelines for these services to ensure that they were implemented consistently across the country.  A strong secondary capacity market will take time to become an established part of the market.

Some market participants and policy makers suggest that firm capacity tariffs should be the ceiling for access charges to the pipeline.  They advocate that tariffs for as available or interruptible services should be lower than for firm services.  Firm services and flexible services are different.  With firm services, pipelines and shippers share volume risk.  With firm services, shippers pay every day and the cost of the service is averaged over an agreed period.  In contrast, shippers pay for flexible services only when they use them.  I take the opportunity now to repeat the question asked by the Commission with regard to the pricing of flexible services.  What's to be expected in competitive markets?  In competitive markets, customers making long term commitments attract favourable terms and conditions.  In the case of primary firm capacity, these favourable terms and conditions are largely lower tariffs and guarantee access.

Finally, we'd emphasise that liquidity in capacity access is meaningless without liquidity in wholesale gas supply.  Enhanced capacity trading does not produce additional supply and is difficult to see the use of capacity trading increasing without greater availability of gas.  Today reform processes seem to have ignored this fact.  Also ignored is the fact that the gas transmission pipelines are not vertically integrated and have every incentive to support competition in markets, both upstream and downstream.  This cannot be said of other infrastructure services essential to the gas supply chain, such as upstream trunk lines, processing facilities and storage facilities.  The key to solving current challenges is increased gas supply.  Increased supply will come through more competition, more producers, more short term supply agreements containing increasingly flexible options.  This much be achieved in a manner that maintains a positive investment environment for supply and chain infrastructure.  As I said at the start of the statement, gas transmission industry provides services to gas market participants.  A strong, healthy and growing gas market benefits the gas transmission industry.  The gas transmission industry has responded to the needs of market participants in this challenging period and there's every reason to expect it will continue to do so.  It's in its best interests to do so.  Thank you.  Steve and I are happy to answer questions.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Thank you for that.  Just on the current difficulties, I guess, we've certainly heard much evidence, much of it private, about great difficulties, particularly manufactures have, in getting hold of gas and getting hold of pipeline capacity.  And in many ways, this almost predates current moratoriums, in the sense that had those moratoriums not been there, the gas would probably be coming out in a few years' time, not now.  So putting aside the current moratoriums, do you have any perspective on those - the difficulties that the manufacturing groups are discussing with us, in terms of their inability to get gas.  They've both got concerns over limited supply options and the difficulty of getting the transport of the gas.  I guess I'm partly wondering whether it's just that their not big enough to capture anybody's attention and therefore getting - they're not really perhaps big enough to get attention that the people are after arrangements with large offtake, rather than some of the smaller?

MS CARTWRIGHT:  I think - I suspect that's part of the issue.  We also think that given the changing structure of the gas market at the moment, the users of gas are experiencing real frustration.  And so it's difficult perhaps for them to come to terms with the changes and they're reflecting this by demonstrating their frustration with accessing supply and access the transportation arrangements.  But as I mentioned, the gas transportation arrangements are generally part of any supply agreement anyway and if there is supply and there is a user, there is generally access or there will be transportation services.  Did you want to add anything?

MR DAVIES:  I think what I'd add to that is, in the current situation today, gas users do have the transportation arrangements in place to meet their current gas demand.  And there's no reason to think that - well, the pipeline infrastructure is not going to be going anywhere, so there's no reason to think that the infrastructure won't be there in place to meet their future gas demand as well.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Well, we've certainly had concerns that the transport isn't there, whether they're just small players or not, I don't know, but you missed the previous discussion--

MS CARTWRIGHT:  We were here.

MR DAVIES:  We were here for that, yes.

MS CARTWRIGHT:  We were here.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Right, that's - I mean, that's a small user.  But we've had people that use a lot more gas, having difficulty getting access to pipelines and having difficulty getting enough offers for gas.  Partly because the offers come from people who don't have pipeline capacity.

MR DAVIES:  I'd say with regard to the previous presenter and there were some difficulties raised in building a connection to the existing pipeline network.  I'd note - the size of the load that was mentioned, 100 terajoules a year, is a very small load and pipelines in particular, do have economies of scale.  The larger the pipeline you build, the cheaper capacity becomes.  But you know, if the average pipeline cost is around a million dollars a kilometre to build, that's a very rough, you know--

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  But most of his concerns were with - I mean, that was trying to get the access to new gas, but most of his concerns were the tripling of his transmission charges over a pipeline that was already there.

MR DAVIES:  That's right and that would be interesting to investigate further.  I know that the prices that he was mentioning, $25,000 month, was $300,000 a year, that's substantially above the published tariffs for the Moomba to Sydney pipeline, or the Eastern Gas Pipeline, to get gas to Sydney.  So as was noted, he's not dealing directly with the transmission companies.  But I have no insight into what his actual costs are.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  But you accept they're unfathomably high?

MR DAVIES:  Yes, definitely.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  The shippers who have got capacity on your pipeline, are they free to trade at - well, on the pipelines of your members, are they free to trade that without any reference back to the pipeline owners?

MS CARTWRIGHT:  Yes.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  So there's no need to - if I've got capacity on your pipeline, I can do with it what I want?

MR DAVIES:  Yes.  A standard, bare transfer involves the trade of capacity between two shippers and the pipeline owner has no visibility on that.  So what would usually happen is the existing shipper takes responsibilities for nominating the capacity they've traded to a third party.  So the operational capacity transfer service, which is a new service, allows the recipient of traded capacity to deal directly with the pipeliner, so that the trader capacity more easily transfers the obligations and rights of a shipper.  But as it is, there is no restriction on capacity trade and bare transfers can occur, without a pipeline owner having any visibility on those trades.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  I'll put one other question and then I'll pass to others and regroup and no doubt come back and ask you some more.  But I guess the general sense you get is that we're moving from an industry underpinned by long term contracts, to now an industry underpinned by quite short term contracts.  Certainly, contracts from the manufacturing users, they're getting offered one to two year contracts, not more and as you say, not very many offers.  But how do you think the pipeline industry is set up to deal with this change we're dealing with?  Quite short term contracts that really are going to need a fair bit of flexibility.  I guess one problem we hear is not much flexibility from the pipeline owners, in terms of capacity.

MS CARTWRIGHT:  I think again, that's a sign of frustration with access to supply, because as we've demonstrated, the pipeline companies are making changes to the way they - to their contracts and providing more flexible situations, conditions for those contracts, in response to the changes in the arrangements between the suppliers and the users.  So where the supply and the users where the market goes, the pipeline industry will accommodate.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Well, certainly we have seen evidence of increasing flexibility, I think, from what we're hearing.  Now I guess there's a confusion about how much that's the supplier and how much is the transmission company.

MS CARTWRIGHT:  I think so.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  But we're certainly hearing much more difficult supply terms without much flexibility, but that's all tightened up quite a lot.

MS CARTWRIGHT:  I think you'll see that the transportation contracts will reflect the changes in the supply, the contracts that the suppliers and users make between them.

MR DAVIES:  From our perspective, our members are certainly saying there's a lot more interested - interest in flexible services and certainly shorter term contracts.  So how that relates to what's happening supply arrangements, we can't offer any insight to.

COMMISSIONER WALKER:  I mean, again, the last witness gave the example of trying to negotiate the ability to park gas.

MR DAVIES:  Yes.

COMMISSIONER WALKER:  And getting the traction.

MR DAVIES:  Yes, that's right.  I would note that the last witness was actually referring to the gas network and negotiating with the gas network owner.  So that is a fully regulated environment and it is quite different to the transmission environment.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  I mean, I was interested in your comments that the pipeline operators are not vertically integrated, so they're not - they don't have a commercial interest, either upstream or downstream.  But one of the difficulties, it seems, from the way in which the pipeline owners actually do either establish a new pipeline or a major expansion of a pipeline is to underpin it with hopefully long terms contracts.  And that sort of transfers their power that they have over the pipeline quite often to the shippers who are engaged in those contracts.  And those shippers do tend to be fairly integrated or have interests either upstream or downstream from the pipeline.  So there is a tension there, isn't there, in terms of signing up long term arrangements with shippers who then effectively control the capacity on the pipeline?

MR DAVIES:  Yes, look, I guess - a couple of comments on that, in the first instance, when those new developments are occurring, it's in the interests of the pipeline owner to get as many customers involved as possible to generate new economies of scale that everyone benefits and the pipeline operator has the opportunity to sell more capacity.  So when those projects are occurring, all market participants have the opportunity to participate in those projects.  And secondly, when - once they're revealed and the shippers who do control the capacity and certainly control the ability of the secondary market to develop, that is a matter of interest for the Commission, I think.  But also, those services or that capacity can be accessed through direct negotiation or direct contact with the pipeline owner as well.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  Well, we have had evidence of a couple of instances where someone who would like to have capacity on a pipeline claims to have been told after the event that the capacity has been allocated for the expansion, without any consultation to them and I just was wondering - I mean, it seems contrary to the comment you just made as to the fact that everyone is given an opportunity.  Would it surprise you to learn that in some instances that doesn't occur?

MR DAVIES:  It wouldn't surprise me to learn that some customers after the fact feel like they've missed out on an opportunity.  But in terms of how the projects are put together, I can't offer a comment onto exactly how every customer is approached.  But if customers aren't making attempts to deal with the pipeline operator directly, they might not then be contacted in the event of a new development.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  But from your point of view, if they had been in touch with a pipeline owner, you would expect the pipeline owner to deal with them?

MR DAVIES:  I would expect so, yes.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  I just wanted to ask - sorry, this will be a bit, flowing all over the place here, but with the trading capacity, some have suggested that it would be helpful to know who's got what contracted capacity on a pipeline and how much of that capacity is being used, so that it's visible to all, if there's spare capacity.  Do you have any comments on that?

MR DAVIES:  Yes look, I think it is visible to all if there is spare capacity, at the moment.  You know, the National Gas Bulletin Board does reveal daily flows on a pipeline and does also have historical records going back to the beginning of the bulletin board, which is on five years now of daily flows.  So on any given day, it's both possible to see a few days into the future on what usable capacity is going to be and you can also look at, you know, historic record to see what average demand has been on any given day, to make a reasonable assessment of whether or not there's going to be some spare capacity on a pipeline.  It could be difficult to determine who holds that spare capacity.  I think, from my perspective, it's reasonably easy for a gas market participant to understand who the other gas market participants are in a certain market and make an informed judgment as to which shippers are on which pipelines.

And there is also currently a rule change under consideration by the Australian Energy Market Commission, which would result in the publishing of all shippers on each pipeline and their contact details.  That would not reveal exactly the contracted positions of each shipper, but as the rule change is currently worded, it is proposing to provide a order of shippers, so that the shipper with the most capacity would be listed first, through to the shipper with the least capacity, which could then also give an indication of how capacity each might have.  And also once the names of the shippers are revealed, market participants will have more insight or will know what kind of business those shippers are operating and I think it's fair to say that different types of shippers would have differing levels of spare capacity, based on what their core business is as well.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  But we'd have a problem if that was more explicit to require people to list what their contracted capacity is on pipelines and what they're using, so that the spare capacity would be visible and you'd know who to approach to get it?

MR DAVIES:  From a pipeline operator's perspective, that's not a significant amount of information extra.  I think it's the shippers themselves who are most opposed to having their exact contractual position revealed.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  But no particular issues in the pipelines?

MR DAVIES:  No.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  I'll pass to others?

MR JOSE:  You mentioned earlier that there were no restrictions on a bare transfer of capacity between - from one shipper to another.  It is the case though, isn't it that frequently if there was changes to the delivery point of capacity on a pipeline that that is something where the pipeline operator would have to consent to or be involved in the transfer?

MR DAVIES:  Yes, look there's a finite amount of capacity at each delivery point.  So if shippers did want to trade capacity between delivery points, the shipper who is doing the trade doesn't have rights to both delivery points, then the pipeline operator would have to be involved to work out how that can be facilitated.

MR JOSE:  You mentioned that in aggregate, market participants have some disability over the amount of capacity that's on a pipeline, but would it be fair to say that they've got less visibility over whether particular delivery points have genuine restrictions that might mean there are real technical reasons why there are difficulties in transferring delivery points or--

MR DAVIES:  Yes, they don't have very much visibility on each delivery point, that's true.

MR JOSE:  So in their interactions with shippers around, if they wanted transfer capacity along the same pipeline, that would involve a difference of delivery point.  We're essentially in the shipper's hands as to whether any additional costs or delays or difficulties in transferring that capacity were as a  result of technical reasons or the pipeline owners essentially?

MR DAVIES:  I think each shipper should have some visibility on the characteristics of the delivery points it has rights to.  And similarly, shippers who are looking to acquire capacity for a certain delivery point should have some understanding of the delivery point that they are connected to as well.  But I'm not sure what involvement the pipeline operator can have, other than to be include in a negotiation to see what can be achieved, when basically it needs to be traded across delivery points.

MR JOSE:  And do you think the attitude of pipeline owners, generally, if there was a request for a delivery point transfer to facilitate a secondary trade, in circumstances where there weren't firm, technical reasons that would cause over congestion or over utilisation of capacity.  What would be the general response of pipeline operators in - to that request?  Would it be facilitated without cost or would there be charges for entering into that sort of transaction or---

MR DAVIES:  I imagine any time a contract needs to be changed, there are costs associated with that.  So you would expect there to be some costs associated with that, but I don't know what level that should be.

MR JOSE:  You also mentioned that the pipeline owners have been instrumental in facilitating - development of platforms to facilitate secondary trading.  Obviously, you're not - as an association privy to all of the details of what's occurred, but just as a general comment, have those platforms been effective at facilitating real secondary trading the market place, or to what extent have they done so?

MR DAVIES:  I think we can say, very few trades have occurred through those platforms for date.  What we can say is that shippers were consulted closely in the development of those platforms and they were structured in such a way, that we were  - pipeline owners were advised, would need shipper requirements.  I guess from our perspective the linking of secondary trades mentioned in the opening statement is certainly to the availability of short term surplus gas, essentially.  So you can't - unless there's additional gas to transport, you can't increase or you can't trade capacity to transport it, yes.

MR JOSE:  And so do you think there's a genuine question as to whether or not there is unmet demand for secondary trading that, you know, if all of the barriers and all of the restrictions were removed and everything was facilitated, how much unmet demand for secondary capacity trading do you think there would be?

MS CARTWRIGHT:  I think that goes back again to the frustration of users wanting to get access to gas and they're linking in the ability to move the gas with their ability to access and it's also perhaps got a little to do with the amount that they're wanting to move and whether they need firm capacity or whether they're comfortable with interruptible or as available.

MR DAVIES:  Yes and look, from our perspective, a number of attempts have been made to quantify the unmet demand for secondary capacity, almost entirely run by government processes and to date there has been little demonstrated unmet demand for secondary capacity.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Well, I think we're getting a bit of evidence of that through our process, which is obviously set up to do that.  I mean, partly the unmet demand can be, you'd think as a matter of logic, someone who's got the capacity on the pipeline who's also a supplier just exercising market power.  If I've got the capacity and no one else has, then you can only buy off me.

MR DAVIES:  Yes.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  That's not a matter of just the gas being only available from one source, it's a matter of who's got the pipeline capacity.  So I mean, there clearly are - I think with a lot more gas flowing north, there's clearly a decrease in available sources of supply for gas, the evidence to that already in this inquiry is quite strong and that market power can manifest itself through only a small number of parties who have got gas on the one hand or from only a small number of parties who have got the available capacity on a pipeline.  So there is an issue there that I think does involve capacity as well as supply and I just wondered whether you had any further guidance on how we might solve that?

MS CARTWRIGHT:  Well, for a start, make the point that if the pipeline company has capacity, they're going to want to sell it.  So I think if you're asking about government - what the government should do, we think that there - again, it goes back to what we've been saying, that the - there have been many reviews about the operation of the market.  But we'd like the reviews and policy focus to be much broader, which obviously this Commission is doing.  But we'd like the reviews and the company policy to focus upon the whole supply chain and not just limit it.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Well, yes, we are.

MS CARTWRIGHT:  Yes and we're pleased about that.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  But I guess - I mean, it is an issue where a small number of suppliers, maybe in some cases only one supplier has got the pipeline capacity and they can use that to create a situation of market power.  Now I realise there's laws that we have that can deal with that on occasion, but I guess from a policy perspective, do you have any perspective on what policy might be to deal with that situation?

MR DAVIES:  I guess our preference would always be for as little regulatory intervention as possible and I think with the establishment of the trading platforms, there is a better way to transact secondary capacity now.  It does remain to be seen whether the holders of capacity will use those platforms to release capacity.  But I think it's equally incumbent on those who have unmet demand for capacity, to use those platforms to signal to the market their demand and under what terms and particularly what price they are interested in accessing pipelines.  And to date, they haven't been using the platforms to signal their needs either.  So I think it takes both sides of a party to create a market and there is, you know, equal requirement on those who wish to access pipelines to provide stronger signals that they wish to access those pipelines.

MS CARTWRIGHT:  And that could also be a matter of time, getting the companies that use the trading platforms to actually use them more, to become accustomed to using them.  They might need some more time to allow them to work.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  But surely you're aware of - I mean, just as we're hearing things, you're hearing things as well about people wanting to move gas and just not having either the available capacity on the pipeline or having any free capacity that any shipper is wanting to provide.  Surely you've heard that as well as we have?

MR DAVIES:  Yes, we have.  When there is a capacity available on a pipeline, that capacity can be accessed through direct engagement with the pipeline operator through as available or interruptible services.  So I'm not sure if it's a matter of access to the pipeline or if those parties wishing to move the gas are unsatisfied with the price at which flexible services are offered by pipeline companies.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Well, one complaint, I guess is that people wanting to get access to new services, find themselves getting confronted with bills that they think mean they're paying the full cost of some increment, when they may not need all of that increment.  The issue of risk sharing, I guess.  Do you have any perspective on the industry's willingness to risk share?  Because the evidence so far to us is very little willingness to do that.

MR DAVIES:  I think historically there has been, you know, little risk, in terms of volume risk shared by the pipelines.  There's always been some, but not a great deal.  From what we have seen on recent expansions or decisions to expand, it does seem like the contracts underpinning those expansions are more in the you know, four to six year timeframe, rather than ten years or more.  So that is a substantial reduction in term, for a pipeline company, which does lead to more risk.  So we have seen that occur, but I'm not sure how much more has occurred.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  I mean, one of the difficulties and sorry to keep hogging the microphone, but is that - when you've only got short run contracts to get the gas, then it's hard to have a longer term contract to get the pipeline capacity.

MR DAVIES:  No, that's right and I think certainly for existing arrangements that are in place, which are, you know, as the long term contracts roll off, they are becoming shorter term.  So those are pipelines that are already in place and I would expect and hope that there is little difficulty in, as those supply contracts become shorter term, the associated transport arrangements become shorter term.  So that's more a continuation of existing or a renegotiation of existing arrangements, as opposed to the requirement to build new infrastructure.

MR JOSE:  In your submission to the inquiry and elsewhere, you mentioned and I think it was in your statement, that market participants still have a preference to bespoke and tailored bilateral contracts.  You heard from the user this morning and I think you know, a small user in particular circumstances, but probably reflective of the broader desire of customers, which is they'd love to have an off the shelf, you know, parking facility or an off the shelf ability to swap and in that sense, it seems that customers may have some preference for more of a standardised type product.  Do you have any comment on that or any evidence of customers preferring to enter into bilateral bespoke negotiations and what would be the drivers for wanting to enter into bespoke contracts for these types of services?

MR DAVIES:  I think, for the most part, each shipper does have differing requirements of their gas supply.  They have, you know, differing requirements for firm services and then the flexibility of as available and the park and storage and so they tend to be packaged together in a bespoke way.  I would imagine for smaller users, such as was heard from this morning, it is a lot more complicated to enter into those kind of arrangements and they would be more satisfied with some off the shelf services.  I mean, 100 terajoules a year, that is, you know, a very small load.

MR JOSE:  I'm using it as an example, because that was in the public forum.

MR DAVIES:  Yes.

MR JOSE:  But I think it's fair to say that there's users, you know, in the end user category that might find a more standardised--

MR DAVIES:  Yes, look I think from that perspective, as far as I'm aware, most services start off - you know, the pipeline companies don't design a new contract from scratch every time a shipper or potential shipper approaches them.  They have their standard services, which are bundled together in different ways to create bespoke contracts, I think is the best way to characterise it.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Just slightly changing tack, there in some areas seem to be declining demand for gas.  That will obviously - I mean, how do you see that playing out, the pipelines - obviously the user this morning again, but many others have also said, as the demand goes down, the price of the transmission goes up, which of course, reinforces the spiral.  It is a tricky issue.  As a regulator of infrastructure, investments, we deal with this all the time, Australia Post and a range of other people as well, but do you have comments?  It must be an issue you're thinking about, with the declining demand in some areas?

MS CARTWRIGHT:  Well, a strong domestic gas industry is certainly something that our industry is very keen to see continue.  But we toyed with the concept of government intervention to help the users of gas through this difficult time, but we're not really in support of government intervention of that sort.  So we would just hope that there is eventually - there is, you know, eventually or fairly soon, sufficient gas supply.  If we have - if Australia is supposed to have enough gas to support an export market as well as a domestic market, then we really do need to see that gas come into the system.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  But I'm not sure that's - well, I mean, you've got different forces at work here.  On the one hand, as you get netback pricing, which is double roughly what it has been traditionally and that number changes all the time, but that clearly is going to mean a decline in demand for domestic gas, away from the LNG, because price has gone up a lot.  So there is going to be an issue there, irrespective of supply.

MS CARTWRIGHT:  But increase prices should also be encouraging more supply, shouldn't they?

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  No, no, but I mean, if you're going to be pricing it netback anyway, that is double the price that people have traditionally paid, so all the supply in the world is still going to leave you at netback pricing.  So have you thought about how this issue gets dealt with, given that it is going to lead to a decrease in demand?

MR DAVIES:  I've not actually - and I guess, it's commonly termed the gas death spiral or the network death spiral.  I've not heard it linked to transmission pipelines previously.  From the transmission pipeline's perspective, as we mentioned, there is a new centre of gravity.  That's Gladstone.  That is LNG proponents are highly likely to be buying third party gas from all over the east coast.  So there is certainly seeing demand on almost all pipelines for gas to flow north to Queensland.  The issue of, you know, a smaller load having to be spread across or fewer customers, but having the same fixed cost and rising prices, I've heard of that linked to networks before, but not actually to transmission pipelines.  I don't know if transmission pipelines have the ability to change their tariffs on the basis of, you know, spreading over fixed costs over a smaller load.

MR PHILP:  I'm just thinking, just further on that I mean the further concern put to us was that these - in some of these cases, they're fully depreciated assets and the extent to which a fixed cost spread across the customers and a decrease in customer base is appropriate.  But by the sounds of it, there's no further comment you could really make on it?

MR DAVIES:  Yes, look, I have not heard of that being linked to transmission costs before.

MR PHILP:  If I might just change tack a little, but in your submissions to our issues paper, you made some commentary about the inappropriateness of transporting international models into Australia.  I wonder if there's anything further you'd like to say on that?

MR DAVIES:  Look, I guess, every market is different and so the Australian east coast gas market is different also.  But when we look at what is happening internationally and see, you know, more sophisticated trading markets, more liquid markets, much larger markets, it is you know, easy to look at the east coast market and draw the conclusion that it's backward or not very sophisticated.  But in reality, a lot of the systems that were put in place in European or US markets, you know, which would address different issues.  So when it comes to, you know, regulatory intervention, they have been looking to address issues that aren't present in Australia, such as the vertical integration of transmission pipelines or large state based retailers controlling a large part of the supply chain in Europe.  But you know, first and foremost there's a lot more gas being used in those markets and that just in and of itself creates a much greater environment for trading hubs and other measures of liquidity, I suppose, to emerge.

MR PHILP:  But if your submission is that, the nature of the market is bespoke contracts when the participants at the moment and there's a want in some sectors to increase liquidity in the market, are they inconsistent with one another?

MR DAVIES:  No, I don't think they are.  I think a useful liquid spot market is a great complement to the contractual arrangements that currently exist.  You know, the long term contracts provide all market participants with the security that they want.  Whether that's the underpin development of reserves or investment implant or building a pipeline and a strong spot market would enable them to manage some of the risks associated with long term contracts, like volume, risk and price risk, so they can respond, you know, more reactively to short term changes.  So I don't think there is an inability to have both, but I guess, there's often a prevailing view that spot markets are, by their nature, superior or more sophisticated and are more desirable than long term contracts.  I mean, really, it's probably the interaction between the two, which is of most benefit to market participants.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  In terms of the submissions that you've made, as I understand it, you're really saying that it's not that surprising that as available supply rates can be higher than long term firm rates, yet that sort of is also a little bit contrary to spot trading and so forth, isn't it?  In the sense that if a pipeline owner is prepared to forego at contract for the available capacity because whoever wants that available capacity is not prepared to pay a higher rate than the firm rate, then that sort of cuts across this flexibility of being able to trade available capacity.

MR DAVIES:  As available services are required directly from the pipeline operator.  So that isn't the spot market.  The spot market or a secondary market has to develop from shippers making their capacity available.  And that - the generation of that market can have influence on the prices that a pipeline operator will offer.  But I can't see an environment where the pipeline operators themselves is going to act in a way that - or imagines there's a spot market for secondary capacity and price their services accordingly.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  No, I appreciate the difference between the spot market and the as available capacity, but I still sort of envisage that there's a relationship between the two, in a sense that obviously in order to be able to engage in some sort of trading, whoever is supplying the gas obviously also - either the person supplying the gas also has to supply associated shipping rights or alternatively the purchaser of the gas needs to be able to ensure that they've got the ability to transport that gas.  So the usual relationship between the willingness of the pipeline owners potentially to engage in that trading of as available supply, and the depth of any spot trading market.

MR DAVIES:  Yes, I think when we look at what firm capacity charges are, there's a lot of emphasis placed on the security of supply that's associated with them and so shippers are paying, regardless of whether they use that capacity for the guarantee of supply.  So if you look to access a pipeline on an interruptible basis, as it suits you, you actually - you know, over the course of a year or the long term, are paying a lot less than the firm capacity charge, because you're not paying every day.  So I think that's largely where, from a pipeline operator's perspective, the difference comes from.  Firm shippers are paying on a take or pay basis, regardless of whether they use the capacity or not.  More opportunistic shippers are paying for it only as they require it and in the long run are actually paying much less for that access to the pipeline.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  They may be, in your example, paying less but obviously they've got less certainty, so--

MR DAVIES:  Well, that's right, certainly.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  I guess the issue comes down to, just going back to the change in the market and risk sharing, doesn't it?  I mean, you've got an industry that's traditionally underpinned long term investment with long term contracts.  I understand that model.  A perfectly sensible model, I understand that leads to the best access to capital markets.  But now we've got a market that is needing more flexibility and I guess that does cause difficulties and raise issues for pipelines about how much risk they're willing to take, if any.  And I guess the sense we're getting is the pipeline owners aren't willing to take much risk.  I'm not - I mean, taking risk is of course risky, so I understand that.  It's not - it is risky and that has costs, if the risks go wrong.  But one does get a sense of a market that needs that and perhaps is not getting that.  What I would do, if I was the pipeline owner, I don't know.  But the fact that you've got short term contracts, but needing longer term pipeline investments, the fact that you've got interruptible supply and if you could get enough of it, you could make a business case, but as they come along one by one, it's - they're being offered terms that make it not acceptable, so you can't develop the market.  I mean, it is - there is a little bit of a chicken and egg here and an issue, I think, as the gas market transitions and the role of the transmission sector.  I mean, I just wouldn't mind hearing a little bit more about whether you think the transmission sector has got a greater role to play than it's playing now, in this market of evolution?

MS CARTWRIGHT:  We think it's already demonstrated that they're prepared to change the way they do business and to introduce different conditions, new conditions and then new contracts.  That's already happening as Steve said.  There are shorter term contracts being written.  That's matching the supply arrangements with the suppliers and the users.  So I think the industry will respond, as the market requires.  It's in their interest to do that.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Well, no if you've got new capacity needed and yet you've only got a limited contract.  I mean, then you won't build the capacity and won't take the risk of there being other supply there later.  I mean, it's one thing to have the pipeline in place, it's another thing not to have the pipeline place.

MR DAVIES:  There's a couple of different issues.  If there's a lack of pipeline capacity and a new investment needs to occur, it's difficult to see a pipeline taking a highly entrepreneurial decision to build a pipeline.  So there is always the potential to take more risk on, but it's unlikely to be, you know, a lot of risk.  So if you know, a pipeline is a capital intensive, fixed asset.  If the demand fails to materialise, you've got a very expensive piece of steel in the ground for not much return and there have been a couple of classic investments in Australia that have occurred like that and have, you know, been absolute disasters.  But when it comes to generating more efficient or more flexible use of a pipeline, so the pipeline industry has built the capacity trading platforms that can allow a greater or a stronger secondary market to emerge. 

In some instances, companies are placing their own capacity on those platforms on offer to the market.  And there's been little interest so far, but I think the market is going to take time to utilise new mechanisms.  It always has, when new mechanisms have been introduced, whether it's the short term trading markets, or the Wallumbilla supply hub.  It takes time for these things to become part of standard business practice and there's every reason to think it's the same case for a strong secondary market.  It takes time for gas users to change their supply arrangements and start utilising new platforms.  It takes time for traders and other consultants to start figuring out ways to leverage the new tools available to them to increase flexibility of supply, so - and there is a chicken and egg element of this, which has to come first.  Really, supply and transportation has to change at the same time and we need to see some more supply available to be transported through traded capacity.  And as that supply becomes available, there's every reason to think that the trading platforms will be used more.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Just one last quick question from me and then I'll see what others have got.  Do you think more - there should be more information made available from gas producers to inform the market about reserves and available supply and potentially pricing?

MS CARTWRIGHT:  We think that the participants in the market can only benefit if they have a better idea of what producers are planning to do with the gas.  If they could - it would certainly help with all the planning.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  So any idea how that might manifest itself?

MR DAVIES:  I guess the particularly interesting questions are around the requirements of the LNG facilities.  You know, each of those facilities is so large, you know, roughly equivalent to the entire east coast, that their forward plans would obviously be of great interest to the market.  But equally, production schedules and you know, well development rates, are highly commercially sensitive.  So it is quite a challenge to see how more information can be made available.  I think for market participants who know what they're looking for, information on reserves and existing well completion rates are available through some third party providers and some governments provide that kind of information.  But you know, the particularly interesting information, it's hard to see a case where that can be made available to the market.

MR JOSE:  I have just a follow up.  The position or the mechanism you outlined in relation to the pricing of as available services, it's - I think it's fair to say that it's not necessarily an approach that's universally taken among pipeline owners.  One of the public submissions to our inquiry gave some numbers which indicated that some pipeline owners charge more and some pipeline owners charge less.  Do you have any comment on, you know, why there may be a divergence of attitude between pipelines?

MR DAVIES:  As I understand it, that particular submission, made a mistake in categorising the costs and it compared its existing costs or the cost of it transporting an extra gigajoule under an existing contract, so the throughput component of a firm capacity charge, it compared that to the as available service offered by another pipeline.  So that obviously creates a very large discrepancy between those costs.  But that is my understanding of what was represented in that submission.

MR JOSE:  Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Okay, we are pretty well exactly on time.  Thank you very much for your time today, I'll conclude this part of the hearing and we'll reconvene at half past 11, thank you.  Unless there's - sorry, I should have said, is there anything else you'd like to add?

MS CARTWRIGHT:  No, that's fine.

MR DAVIES:  Not at all.

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW

SHORT ADJOURNMENT

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  This is a hearing pursuant to subsection 95R of the CCA as we undertake our East Coast Gas Inquiry.  I'm Rod Sims, Chairman of the ACCC.  On my left is Roger Featherston, on my right Jill Walker, they're Commissioners.  And I can introduce Jeremy Jose since there's only one of him I'll introduce him myself.  This hearing is open to members of the public, but as I've said earlier to those present we're really here to hear the evidence of people who come forward to do so, so I'd ask the observers to refrain from asking any questions.

Now the hearing is being recorded and a transcript of the hearing will be made available to you.  I understand you've received a copy of the notes for witnesses in relation to this inquiry.  Can you please confirm that you have received that.

MR BURY:  Yes.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Thank you.  Now if you wish to at any time give us confidential evidence let us know and we'll consider that, but unless you raise it, as I say we'll treat the hearing as public.  Have you got any further documents you want to provide to us today?  I understand you've already given us material.

MR BURY:  That's correct.  There's nothing further than what we provided so--

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Thank you.  Now before commencing the hearing I've got to remind you that it's a criminal offence to give evidence that you know to be false or misleading, do you understand that?

MR BURY:  Yes.

MS READ:  Yes.

<PETER BURY, SWORN(11.33AM)

<SAMANTHA MAY READ, SWORN(11.33AM)

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Now if I could finally just get you both to state your name, address and occupation for the record.

MS READ:  My name is Samantha Read, Samantha May Read.  I am the chief executive officer of Plastics and Chemicals Industries Association.  The address, home address or work address?

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Work address will do.

MS READ:  Work address is Level 11, 10 Queen Street, Melbourne.

MR BURY:  And my name is Peter Bury.  I'm the director of strategy innovation and research for PACIA, and I'm also at the address of Level 11, 10 Queen Street, Melbourne.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Thank you.  Now with the formalities complete we look forward to hearing what you've got to say, and once you've made an opening statement we'll put some questions to you.  But please, the floor is yours.

MS READ:  Thank you, very much, and I would like to make an opening statement.  As I noted before, I am the chief executive officer of PACIA.  PACIA is the voice of the Australian chemistry industry, the second largest manufacturing sector in the country.  The industry adds more than $11.6 billion to the nation's gross domestic product, and it employs more than 60,000 people often in highly skilled jobs and contributes more than $6 billion in wages and salaries to the economy.

Importantly, the Australian chemistry industry turns gas into jobs which results in a stronger economy.  Our research indicates that approximately 10% of Australia's domestic natural gas is used as a chemical feedstock or ingredient for manufacturing chemicals and plastic products needed throughout the economy.  So just let me explain that further.  Of the constituents of natural gas there are two component molecules methane and ethane used by our industry.  The methane and ethane chains are the starting points for the advanced chemistry that produces fertilisers to increase our agricultural yields, chemicals to make our water safe to drink, irrigation pipes for agriculture, mining and residential uses, and advanced packaging product to protect and preserve our food.  Ethane and methane, the components of natural gas, are essential ingredients in these processes.  These feedstock molecules cannot be substituted in the manufacturing process.

Australia's abundant gas supplies mean we could be leading high quality manufacturing advances and contributing essential inputs to national, regional and global value chains.  However, the rapid transformation and transition from a domestic gas market to a globally linked LNG market has caused unprecedented change, especially for capital intensive industries requiring long term investment certainty.  The current lack of certainty and transparency in gas supply and pricing is hampering manufacturing investment, production and growth in this country.  The impact on the Australian chemistry industry is significant with independently forecast losses of $13.7 billion in manufacturing output and 4,000 jobs by 2021.  And as the Australian chemistry industry feeds into so many industries, these impacts reverberate right through Australia's value chain and our economy.

PACIA's objective is for an Australian domestic gas market with increased supply, increased competition and greater transparency.  As part of a global economy we believe a market based approach is the best overall balance for market reform to ensure the domestic market is functioning properly and to help the economy grow.  To do this, coordinated action between federal, state and territory governments is required to ensure Australia continues to benefit from energy export earnings and has a thriving domestic manufacturing sector that adds value to its natural resources.

And given our abundant gas reserves, we believe Australia's natural wealth can be spread more evenly in the economy through competitive innovative manufacturing.  Smart reforms and increased supply will allow Australia to provide gas for all users including energy exports, including as chemical feedstocks, in industrial processes and commercial and residential energy.  A secure gas market will mean more jobs for Australians, deliver higher value products into domestic and global markets and help to grow our economy.  I'll now hand over to Peter Bury.

MR BURY:  Thanks Samantha.  Again I appreciate the opportunity to provide evidence to the Commission.  What I thought I'd do is just set out the role of the chemical industry in the east coast gas market specifically, have a look at what we think a well functioning should exhibit, then the experience of our members in the current market place, and also some solutions that I know that the Commission is keen to look at.  So that's where we find ourselves.

As Samantha mentioned, the industry is one of the country's major consumers of natural gas and the role of that is to add value.  If we look at the 2013 BREE, that's the Bureau of Resources and Energy Economics information, the industry itself is probably the largest subsector user of east coast gas.  So the east coast market is a 700 petajoule market.  300 petajoules or 43% of that is used by large industrials and the mining sector, and of that proportion chemicals and plastics consumers around 29% or about 90 petajoules.  This represents we think around 13 perhaps 15% of the entire east coast market.  In states like New South Wales, the industry consumes around 25% of that state's demand, so there's significant volumes.

The gas is then transformed into approximately 3 to 3.5 million tonnes of high value added products for domestic and export use in the types of markets that Samantha's mentioned, and they're through methane chemistry for things like ammonium nitrate for fertilisers, sodium cyanide for gold extraction, methanols and peroxides.  And also the ethane chemistry stream for polyethylene plastics for pipes, tanks and packaging as well as ethylene oxides for agriculture and mining.  So that production takes place right up and down the east coast in Queensland, New South Wales and Victoria in large scale chemical facilities that feed into a range of other markets and businesses.  As with all large scale industry, chemical companies need to have long lead time certainties so that they can plan their production, and the way that those products meet the needs of their downstream customers as well.

Samantha also mentioned that issue around non substitution and it's an important characteristic of gas as a feedstock.  We quite rightly hear a lot about the use of gas as an energy source, but there are certain characteristics unique to chemistry and one of those is the issue of non substitution.  So the methane and ethane molecules of the gas are used as feedstocks and they're fed into chemical plants that are specifically calibrated for that type of technology.  So whilst the electricity sector, for example, has a degree of flexibility about switching to other fuel supplies, that's not the case for all practical terms in our industry.  We should also note that in addition to feedstock use there are process energy demands to run the plants themselves, and so methane is used to actually run the facilities themselves.  So in essence, reliability of supply in sufficient volumes and on sufficiently contracted lead times at suitable pricing is critical to not only the viability of current plants, but also to attract new investment and the same long term certainties there.

So the view of PACIA's members is that a well functioning gas market should be a domestic gas market that is deep in capacity, liquid in supply, competitive, transparent, informed and with adequate price discovery.  And certainly to the point that Samantha made earlier, our industry recognises the need for gas to meet the energy needs of a growing regional and global market place by LNG exports, that they're an important opportunity that Australia should take advantage of.  But also, for the chemical industry to produce fertilisers for crops for food, and being able to package that in high value add products to those same growth markets.  We need it to produce our paper, steel and aluminium, as well as providing energy for commercial and residential use.

So what should a well functioning market look like and what are the characteristics that it perhaps should exhibit?  Large numbers of buyers and sellers enabling choice and competition for that choice.  Buyers and sellers having knowledge about the market including high levels of transparency around supply, demand and price.  No real barriers to entry or exit.  Little ability to distort price and supply due to the exertion of market power, and ideally enough gas flowing and available in the system for it to have supply and price equilibrium at multiple demand centres at one time.

Another important characteristic, particularly considering where the market is at the moment, is an understanding of how significant changes in the market will impact supply and price, the dynamics of that change, including when the market is likely to return to some form of balance. That's a topic that many people have spoken about before and we'll look at that as well.  So you're aware that the traditional bilateral contracts that many companies have traditionally relied on to feed into their own markets and the needs of their customers have largely concluded at the same times as the east coast market has become connected to the global LNG market.

And I guess it's that unprecedented pace of change that has created a lot of the concerns and contributed to a lot of the barriers that the companies are now facing.  So the 700 petajoule east coast market is said to become a 2,300 petajoule market next year due to the unprecedented LNG export opportunity.  And it's really that pace of change that contributes to market uncertainty.  It's also fair to say that there's a general consensus that appears to be that the plan to meet this increased demand from coal seam gas production has had lag times within it that have further increased the impacts and the challenges for the domestic market.

Samantha also mentioned before a piece of work that Deloitte Access Economics has done. Aand I guess as the industry started to see where the changes in the market were going to occur, we were really not able to find any indication about if we were going through this rapid change what is the impact likely to be on manufacturing -  so that we can look at planning our way through it.  So Deloitte were contracted by a group of associations and reported last year.  They said for the manufacturing industry in Australia they forecast a significant $118 billion reduction in manufacturing economic output between 2014 and 21 in net present value terms, and the loss of 14,600 jobs for the same period.  And as Samantha has mentioned for the chemical and plastics sector, the impacts were around $13.7 billion and 4,000 jobs for the same period.

The experience then of the chemical industry interacting with that market place I guess is interesting because it starts to help us identify what might be done to strengthen and improve the current situation.  So the view of many participants is the domestic gas market along the east coast is not operating as it should be, and that it was a strong view that the market has failed.  In that the companies requiring gas were unable to secure it in the timeframes required for their business needs, as well having price in contract terms and conditions less favourable than previously available, yet all the while there is abundant gas.  And I guess the observations of different participants in the industry are varied, but I'll provide a few of those as a context to how they see it..

There are a relatively small numbers of suppliers and  providers in some locations.  In some areas such as Victoria the experience has been a very limited number of supply options are available.  In some cases, companies were unable to obtain offers for supply irrespective of price, and it was understood that the gas wasn't available.  In some cases where offers were obtained, it was on less favourable contract terms and conditions than previous, and  some examples of those were shorter contract durations than the previously available five to ten year periods needed for long term planning.  Take or pay provisions were significantly increased from what were relatively low percentage levels in previous contracts, to percentages that were up in the fourth quartile percentage reason.  And there were issues around oil linked pricing.

It was also felt these changes were felt to effectively transfer some of the risk of supply from the suppliers onto the gas buyers.  There was a general feeling around that being the case, which is a significant, and indeed for the Australian market, an unprecedented change in the dynamic of the market place.  The other observations were lack of price transparency  including the uncertainty around the extent of prices rises being linked to LNG exporting or other factors, barriers to entry for new market participants, and uncertainty around pipeline capacity.

We also understand and respect that there is a parallel and perhaps counterview to the picture that I've just painted about a market failure - that the market has not failed, rather it's in a phase of transition given the now LNG-linked market dynamics that are now in place, and we understand that that point of view is there.  However, major gas users are used to being in major market places as well. Andthey would say that many markets indeed do go through cycles.  However, in the case of the domestic gas market, the feeling is that there's no real indication about when the supply and price trend towards netback is likely to settle, or over what period of time. Soagain it's that uncertainty.  They felt that if the market was in transition, then when will it settle, at what levels of supply and at what price?.  So from the experience of our members the ability to understand what that new dynamic means is important for them -to be able to put in place strategies to deal with it.

So whilst there's a need to maintain the supply of gas for feedstock into existing plants, there's also the challenge about the current uncertainty potentially providing a barrier to ongoing and future investments in Australian chemical production.  Chemical companies need to invest in not only plants that need to expand their current capability,  but to invest in new plant and equipment to meet that global need.  And these can be  global scale chemical plants processing either  methane or ethane, or indeed other technologies, but also opportunities to put around those facilities technology parks that take the particular chemistry and have consortia of businesses that can work on technology or skill strengths to value add to those as well.

So it's a significant opportunity that the industry would like to take advantage of.  And I guess the question is not can these types of global scale plants and technologies be built, indeed they're being built all around the world. The question is will they be built in Australia?. This  is something that understandably our industry turns its mind to.  And we'd certainly like to think that alongside the opportunity to provide the world with needed energy, we're also able to provide the world with advanced chemistry and advanced manufacturing products for the types of opportunities federal and state government have identified in food and fibre, energy technologies, mining, health and medical sectors.

So in terms of solutions we recognise, as others do, that there are many moving parts to the gas market and its opportunities. And  I guess we've got a few observations on where those solutions might fall out.  As a starting point, I guess with the market being in such a seismic shift, is that all stakeholders, in any way involved in gas in Australia, really now need to make more informed decisions than they were previously required to do. And to do that they need access to information that they were perhaps  previously not necessarily needing, but it's certainly required now.  So whether you are exploring and need more geodata, whether you're transporting gas and need to design new capacity, whether you're running chemical plants and trying to plan for expansion, or indeed whether your community's concerned about the impacts of coal seam gas, really it seems that everybody needs better information on how to make new decisions for  a new era of gas.

Samantha's mentioned PACIA's basic strategy is two-fold, it's to support an increased supply of gas, but into a market that's more competitive and transparent.  You're also aware from other evidence that's been provided over the last couple of weeks that there's an alliance of major gas users, of which PACIA is a participant.  That alliance has looked at a set of recommendations around expanding the market, strengthening it and also supporting it.  And I guess that structured approach in many ways reflects the recommendation of the 2002 PARA report ,which had a number of recommendations in itwhich, 13 years on, is still not fully implemented.

The other useful piece of work we think is in place is the COAG Energy Council's gas market vision, and also the gas market development plan which is now in place. We think that provides a useful structure around those four agreed strategies.  The Commission, and other observers, would have seen the results from the 23 July, 2015 COAG Energy Council meeting and the recommendations for action. The  early actions from the AEMC start to address some of those barriers and issues. So if we look at price transparency through a potential gas pricing index, for example.  Issues around the enhanced pipeline capacity trading, harmonising what time of the day that the gas day actually starts is an opportunity. And also looking at the National Gas Law, as well as the potential for another hub in Moomba.  And I guess it was the final statement in that communiuque that also caught our attention in that the council noted that the gas market was in an era of new dynamism and the imperative was to "get the fundamentals rightto prepare market participants for new ways of price discovery, trading investment and risk management”.

So in addition to those recommendations we then went back to our companies and said, what specifically needs to change? - because that's the question which you and others understandably should be asking us.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Yes.

MR BURY:  And there were a few helpful observations that have come out of those conversations.  If we look, for example, at the short term trading markets, and it's good that now we'll end up with a harmonised start of the gas day. Butfor some participants, they still feel that there's probably a six hour blind spot in their planning over successive days.  So if the gas day starts and then the price is settled by say midday the next day, six hours earlier in the same day they had to try and work out what their needs for the next day were.  So they feel that whilst it's beneficial to have a starting point that's harmonised, that six hour blind spot is still potentially a challenge.

The other observation they made was that in the case where there's multiple pipeline delivery routes of gas to a given location or to a given demand centre, the companies need to monitor all of those routes all at the same time.  I guess the observation is that if the gas was flowing to all of those demand centres and there was liquidity and depth in the markets, then it was unclear to those businesses that we spoke to, why there were price differentials other than those understandably standardised for things like differing  compression rates. Sothat was another observation.

The other issue is that if we're in that transition phase, certainly our membersand others are wedded to a market based solution.  But it's trying to understand what happens in that interim stage. Ifwe are in a transition period, how do we support companies with market-based solutions, so that they're still there in five years' time and can continue business?  That's quite a challenge which I know is the reason why we're here, but nonetheless it's something to be flagged.

In many ways if you look at those earlier points, the COAG Energy Plan has done a really good job of, as I said, trying get the fundamentals right. It would seem that in the same way that federal and state governments have understood the opportunity that is gas to LNG to meet global energy needs, thensimilarstrategies around the power of gas through value chains, not only chemistry into  food and fibre, but more national strategy around those types of opportunities as gas as a feedstock, as well as energy export, may also be beneficial.

And the last point is also around that issue that Cheryl Cartwright mentioned earlier, the value of adopting more of a value chain approach.  The reality is of course that gas flows from the time that it's discovered, processed, put into a pipeline, taken to a chemical facility, used to grow fertilisers and make packaging for high value food.  I think there's an opportunity to increase awareness throughout the value chain as well. Tounderstand those market based solutions more, some more interaction between some of those organisations would be helpful.  That's now starting to happen which is good.  Associations like PACIA and others that we work with, have got a role to play in that as well.  So I think better connecting the parts of the market so that they can self-discover or self-identify where some of those opportunities are, are probably useful things to consider.  That's me.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Okay, thank you.  And look, I understand there are things in your submission, but I guess I wouldn't mind just understanding how much you think this is a market in transition versus deeper problem.  And what the core, what solutions matter most to you in whichever way you answer that first question.

MR BURY:  Yes, indeed.  And as I said, there's a lot of moving parts.  The first thing I'd say is if you'rea chemical business and you're trying to get those five to ten year contracts, or otherreasonable periods of time, so that you can allow your products to be put into the market place in simpler timeframes, then you need the ability to see where the gas is coming from. Soa company that's trying to plan two or three years out in terms of a contract, the problem is basically on their doorstep because those shorter lead times are there.  I think the fact that companies are saying they're not sure where the transition is going looks more like a market failure than a market in transition.  Certainly when these problems first arose we were looking at things like where's the analysis about if we're using coal seam gas to provide the LNG opportunity which is good technology, then how are we matching up the volumes needed to meet that demand?Where is the demand coming from?Do we understand where the ramp gas is coming from or what those delays are?

And it seems structurally, at least for the time that we've looked at it, that we were not able to get that type of information.  It also felt to us that you were not able to find what the impacts of that significant shift in the market was going to be on other parts of the economy.  So if you look back at things like the national gas objective, which is being able to ensure gas is made available to those who need it subject to market forces, it does seem to be an experience which is different to what the gas objective sets out.  We're not privy to that sort of information at an association level, but I guess when we asked our members the question, they felt it was more like market failure because it was uncertain to them if we were in transition when that transition settles down, what it looks like when it settles down and what the characteristics are likely to be.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  So I guess if it's a market failure what's the essential two or three changes that are most on your mind?

MR BURY:  Yeah, sure.  And look, essentially we've divided that piece of work into two.  One is to get more gas in the market place.  So a problem that exists because we don't have enough gas isn't going to be solved by the same amount of gas, and certainly not less, it requires more gas.  But the gas has to be put into a market place that meets really what that last line in the COAG Energy Council's communique said, it's “a new area of dynamism”.  There's new areas of risk, price discovery, but there's got to be adequate information and the market place has got to be competitive and transparent in order for those companies to take those transition steps.  So it's a two part play from our perspective.  We need to bring on more supply and more supply has to be brought into a market that's more competitive and transparent.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  How do we make it more competitive?  That's easy to say.

MR BURY:  Indeed.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  I'm not asking, well I am asking you to do our job.

MR BURY:  And look I reflected on that as well because the Commission will be no doubt aware that at the same time as this important piece of work was going on, there's the AEMC report that was going on as well.  And I guess we reflected on that because we anticipated that you would be asking quite specific questions about how to fix it.  So when I read down the list of four or five things that the AEMC earlier identified, we think they're the types of things that are starting to get more information into the market place, and of course there are different timelines for this Commission's work and the AEMC's work.  And we tested some of those back with our members in terms of are they going to be useful things?  So things like starting off the gas trading day at a harmonised time, is that useful?  Yes, that would be useful, but by the way there's this six hour blind spot that we think needs to be fixed as well.

Having an understanding, however, about when that transition period is likely to end and how to plan for it does become rather tricky.  Because we're not privy to the same types of information that the Commission is. I guess there's a limit to which we can understand where the solutions are.  However, what I would say is if I look at the gas market development plan that the COAG Energy Council Ministers  sent out, we think that's a useful structure.  And so are things being commenced that are generally useful and are going to help us move towards the type of market place that we see, yes.  The starting points around encouraging a competitive supply transparency and price discovery.  Risk management certainly for companies who need to find price discovery perhaps differently to what they did before, but manage the types or risks that are new in the market place that I described before we think are beneficial, as well as removing unnecessary regulatory barriers.

Having said that as an overview, if you start deep diving down into some of the detail there is an opportunity for more cooperation between commonwealth and state entities.  So, for example, we would love to bring on more supply in areas where there is concern about that supply in areas such as Victoria and New South Wales.  So whilst the COAG gas market development plan we think is a good structure and it's got the elements in it that are beneficial, being able to bring those more quickly and in a coordinated way is important for our members.

MR JOSE:  So a couple of questions, so you mentioned a number of times that your members appreciate or place a lot of value in a historical five to ten year contract duration, or long term contract duration, I think it's fair to say that at a big picture, you know, Australia's easy conventional gas reserves are coming to their end of their life in the sort of easy stuff in Gippsland, in Bass Strait and the easy stuff in the Cooper is probably coming to the end of the line and we're moving into a time when unconventional, or riskier or further offshore gas is probably going to become a much more important part of it.  And I think, you know, it's inherent not because anyone's trying to hide information, but there's more, a greater degree of uncertainty over that inherently in the nature of the physical product that's being extracted.  Are your members able to operate and continue to make the kind of investments they need in a world where it may not be possible to get contracts of a firm price so that it has the kind of timeframes that they're historically useful?  Is it compatible with  facing physical nature of commodity in the extract?

MR BURY:  Great question because the market is what  is and the question is are companies are able to operate in that environment?  I go back to that comment that I made earlier about  market change, really everybody who's involved in gas needs access to new information.  Did they need that information before?  Perhaps not, because they had to five to ten year bilaterals, and what they focused on was having gotten the gas they focused on how they processed it in what the market was.  So in order for them to operate in that new environment I think they will need information that is different to what they had in the past.  Are they able to operate in that market place?  That's obviously a question for the individual companies.  They certainly have a desire to.  There are strong markets for products that are made from gas and chemistry.  There's a growing market in terms of a growing regional and global population that needs products made from chemistry.  And there are technologies that are evolving daily that enable better production methods of chemistry and the conversion of ethane and methane products.

So companies are relatively well equipped to understand what the dimensions are.  I think what they're asking for is more information so that they're able to make those better quality choices.  I can't probably give you any more specifics in terms of what an individual company might need, suffice to say that if you look at where large gas reserves are around the world, you'll see chemical companies of different types and sizes looking to use that a chemical feedstock to develop new plant and equipment.  And the point that Samantha and myself made, is there an appetite for doing that?  The answer's yes.  What that will look like will depend on the environment that they operate in.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  It's tricky to make information available though isn't it in the market economy.  I mean the sort of information, what's the main information that you think would be most helpful for your members?

MR BURY:  Yeah, and I guess that's the list that we looked at before. So in terms of we looked at - three categories of needs as a group of associations some time back.  So that was around expanding the market, getting more quantity of gas, but also strengthening the market with more gas supply.  So I think if you were a company that felt it had the opportunity to go upstream, and in addition to producing the chemicals,  you wanted to try and discover your own gas and find your own supply.

That's a shift in your business model.  If you're shifting your business model then I would imagine you would need access to the types of information that would best balance the risk reward dynamic that businesses need to make.  So in addition to the way that you ran your business in the past, you would need access to geological data, what was the type of gas that was available?  Was it wet or dry gas depending on whether you're after ethane or methane?  What was the prospectivity of that gas and the availability to get that gas to market?  Again, if you were primarily a chemical industry you would need to understand more about the dynamics of the market, how it flowed through processing plants, what would that do to your cost of business if that was the type of model that you wanted to adopt?

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  But isn't that all the information that somebody doing that investment would go out and get themselves?  I'm more referring to what information might be in a sense mandated if any by government that has to be provided?

MR BURY:  Yeah, and look that's, it's an important question.  From where we sit as an association we've got a limited view in terms of the type of specific information that a large scale chemical company would need to make those commercial decisions.

MR JOSE:  A couple of other questions.  You mentioned some examples of terms and conditions with you being sort of deteriorating, a shorter duration increase in take or pay in oil pricing, or are you aware, and obviously it's only the general level of other terms and conditions in offers of supply which have been causing difficulties for your members that might be of interest to the Inquiry?

MR BURY:  Yeah, and look, so when we went back and spoke to our members we were quite specific in terms of what the Commission is probably going to understandably require, and what are the specifics?  And I guess in addition to what our members have already provided to the Commission in private hearings, and we understand that was quite detailed in terms of price and contract conditions, itstill came back to that general catalogue of the contract durations. Well there are actually two components as an answer to that question.  One was it was not only that the contract additions were less than what they were, and they have higher take or pay, and that they felt that this in fact transferred the risk, it was more around if that was going to be the case, if the market was in transition then when does that end?  So part of it was around when the contract conditions were there but when does this settle out?  When does it swing back to being the type of market that we envisaged?  Or at least some understanding about where it would settle.  So it was really those two components.  But beyond those ones that I've mentioned I've got no further information for you this morning.

MR JOSE:  Sure.  And did your members identify any difference between the type of, the sorts of terms that came from different types of producers, so whether they were sourcing supply directly from a producer or sourcing supply from an intermediary or a super retailer?

MR BURY:  No.  We didn't get down to that sort of specific information, although I'm aware that one if not two of their members who provided private information to you probably didn't get down to that specific level of market information.

MR JOSE:  And then just in general, do you have any views on the overall pace of gas recontracting in the industry and whether or not lists that are published by industry bodies and so on that are reflective of what your users are seeing in terms of renewed offers for supply going forward?

MR BURY:  Yeah.  And again from an association's perspective, we try and work in the region of pre-market and post-market. If we get involved in that market level where we can aggregate the needs of our members and provide information to organisations such as yourselves.  So in terms of are contracts being made?  Yes, contracts are being made.  They're on those changed circumstances and changed conditions, but beyond that that's information probably best provided by the companies themselves.

MR JOSE:  Sure.  And just one final question, you mentioned a couple of times the nomination gap, the six hour, and I think in relation to - and now I'm sorry, I'm sure this has been explored elsewhere, but is that a consequence of the rules or is it a consequence of contractual specifications as to the time?

MR BURY:  Great question.  So I'll explain it as best as it was explained to me.  That is, so let's say that we do end up with a harmonised start of day and the price for that day settles at say midday the next day.  Prior to that price being set at 6 o'clock on the morning of that day then you need to work out what your needs are going to be for the following day.  So it's that six hour black spot.  What causes that?  I don't know specifically whether that is a regulation issue or is a market place issue, but that's the way it was explained to me as an opportunity to build on the work that the AEMC had already commenced.

MR JOSE:  Thank you.  It sounds like there's a few, as we have been but a few more things to explore with the members.

COMMISSIONER WALKER:  Just following up on the shifting of risk and the terms and conditions perhaps, one thing you didn't mention was restrictions on resupply and that's an issue that's been raised by a few people.  Have you got any comments on that perhaps in conjunction with the take or pay issue?

MR BURY:  Yeah, sure.  And just in terms of definition please, when you say resupply just so that we're talking about the same thing.

MR JOSE:  So essentially - - -

COMMISSIONER WALKER:  So resupplying the gas, so on selling the gas to somebody else, yes.

MR BURY:  Right.  In general, because most of what we're dealing with is around feedstock gas.  That's different to the short term needs of the process energy gas.  So we certainly had some conversations about the short term needs, but there was no particular discussion at that level, in terms of  most of what we've principally been dealing with has been the feedstock component, because that connects us to our operating environment.

COMMISSIONER WALKER:  Okay.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Look just one other, I understand you have done that work and it's a little while since I read it, but I've still got it under my pillow so it's there.  But how do you see the outlook for gas going forward?  Do you see that there is going to be a shortage of gas going forward?  Do your members get that sense?  How do you bring that together?

MR BURY:  Yeah, sure.  And again there's a lot of moving parts.  There's the gas, there's the ramp up for the LNG industry and the ability of CSG to meet that demand.  There's the oil price, there's the challenges that we certainly understand explorers have got in terms of pricing and the cost that it takes to bring it out of the ground.  If we look at the experience of our members they are still saying we need that long term supply for two reasons, one is to maintain the current plant, but also the interest in building a larger plant.  If there was a greater understanding, if there was greater certainty around the supply and price dynamics, I think that would be favourable to investment, which is no surprise.  Of interest will be what happens, are we able to bring on the supplies we need?  So I guess we go back to that original dynamic.  This will be fixed by bringing on more supply.  The ability to bring on more supply has got a number of things underpinning it, including things like state moratoria and others.  So the earlier we bring on more supply we're likely to fix it.  That doesn't answer your question directly I understand.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Well I guess that, you know, partly one hears of obviously the various state moratoriums are uppermost in people's minds.  But also one hears for a lack of exploration incentive because of the oil price being low, so that even if you could explore you might not, and obviously people have got acreage that isn't affected by those moratoriums.  I mean do you have any concerns under that heading?

MR BURY:  I guess to look back at, there was a report that was released last week about the prospectivity in the Northern Territory and the amount of gas available in that state, for example.  So there is information which depending on the jurisdiction is being brought forward in terms of where is their gas, what is the opportunity to bring that gas forward?  We would certainly like to think that there is that gas available and then able to be brought to market.  But in terms of when, and if I, guess that's up to the market to decide.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Anything else?

COMMISSIONER WALKER:  Maybe just one other question.  The joint marketing, do you have any perspectives in that?

MR BURY:  Yes.  Look, certainly the Parer report back in 2002 spent a fair bit of time looking at joint marketing arrangements, and the view there of course was that it provided the environment for less competition than more competition.  It's been something which has been on our radar for a while.  At an association level do we have the evidence that it exists?  I think that's a question best for the Commission.  There's certainly concern that if joint marketing does take place then it's probably less of environment for the sorts of competition required to meet the objectives of what the federal government and the COAG Energy Council agree needs to be in place for the new dynamism as they describe it.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Okay.  Is there anything else you'd like to add?

MR BURY:  That's fine.  Look, we certainly appreciate your interest in our industry as we've said from the offset, from the outset rather.  Gas is really important for its energy value for our industry, it's important for its feedstock value, we're just pleased to be able to provide those insights around feedstock because often when policy settings are mentioned feedstock is only sort of understood. So we certainly appreciate the opportunity to bring that to your attention and the particular needs of our market place.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Look, we do understand the feedstock point, that it's not substitutable, and certainly your members have been speaking extremely clearly, so you can give them full marks for their presentations.

MR BURY:  We'll provide that feedback.  Thank you very much.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Thank you.  We'll conclude this part of the hearing and adjourn back at 1 o'clock, so people have some small opportunity to get lunch those who are coming back at 1.  We'll reconvene at 1.  Thank you.

LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT

DR ROBERTS:  ..(Recording equipment not turned on).. long term contracts offering firm supply, such contracts naturally reduce volume and price risk for buyers.  It's also clear that many people understand that producers are facing inevitable cost increases, due to factors outside their control.  

As is the case with many other resources, gas producers face rising cost curves.  APPEA, for example, has released independent analysis by EnergyQuest which shows that finding and development costs have increased sharply in recent years.  As established reserves are drawn down, producers need to develop new, more costly sources of supply.  In particular, conventional gas reserves in eastern Australia are declining.  Without the stimulus of LNG exports, we would not have seen the massive investment in unlocking unconventional gas reserves and upgrading infrastructure, which all our customers need.  

APPEA would stress the greatest risk to the market is government failure, not market failure.  

While Australia has ample gas reserves to supply domestic and overseas customers, recent government policies risk creating an artificial shortage of gas and higher prices.  Removing unnecessary government restrictions on exploration and development, we believe, is the most efficient way to enhance supply and put downward pressure on prices, and we trust the Commission will highlight how sensible policy changes will help producers and users alike.  

And finally, there has been a great deal said about LNG exports during this inquiry.  Almost $200 billion has been invested in new LNG projects and Australia is expected to be the world's leading LNG exporter by 2018.  Australia's LNG industry is under acute pressure from the sharp decline in global prices.  Projects are striving to contain costs and to stay competitive.  We're already seen as a high cost country for projects.  We estimate, for example, that our costs are about 30 % higher than in Canada, and in this respect, our gas industry faces similar competitiveness pressures as the trade exposed manufacturers who are amongst our customers.  

Policy and regulatory changes, which add to industry costs at this difficult stage, will inevitably jeopardise jobs today and investment in the future.  Such changes would also compound what is emerging as a major problem for our industry, a concern amongst international investors that sovereign risk is increasing in Australia, thanks to erratic policies in government, and so for all these reasons, APPEA believes that the stakes are high for the industry, its customers, and for the country.  So thank you for the opportunity to make hopefully a brief opening statement, and Damian and I will be pleased to take any questions.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  It was brief and it was apparently long enough, so that's good.  Thank you.  I guess, just to open up with a couple of points, you say government failure rather than market failure.  I think it's fair to say that whatever restrictions there are on exploration probably wouldn't have a - having gas from those finds now, yet a lot of companies are saying, often under oath here, that they - whereas they used to get four or five offers of gas, they're now getting zero or one, whereas the terms were subject to negotiation, they're now not.  These are statements under oath obviously; I won't go through the examples, but there has been a lot of them.  

DR ROBERTS:  Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  That would suggest some form of market failure, would it not, in the sense that, as I say, the restrictions that are applying in various places probably wouldn't have helped right now anyway, obviously depending on the discoveries that might help later.  But have you got any comment on that?  

DR ROBERTS:  Well, I think the first thing is that some of these restrictions have been in place for some time, and they have created an overall climate of uncertainty about investment and that is having an effect on the industry.  But I take your point, that there are a number of different factors at work.  Looking forward to what are some of the solutions, it seems to us, and I'm pleased--

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  I might just - are the microphones not working?  

DR ROBERTS:  Can I - if I need to speak up-- 

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Sorry. 

DR ROBERTS:  That's okay.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  That's one reason why - yes, fine.  

DR ROBERTS:  Okay.  So I suppose the first point I made there was that it hasn't contributed to a stable climate for investment.  It has been a difficult climate for projects and particularly we're talking about exploration and development to proceed, when there has been uncertainty about the regulatory frameworks surrounding onshore gas in particular, and if we're looking for a long term solution, the best solution to put downward pressure on prices is clearly to increase supply, so we would say that.  There are a--

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  So as I say, those onshore ones wouldn't have come on by now anyway, so you would have faced the problem now anyway.  

DR ROBERTS:  Well, there are - there's at least one or two projects that may have, but I don't wish to dispute the possibility that timing might be today or in six months' time.  We simply say that's an impediment to the market operating efficiently, that - to the extent that policies don't reflect a genuine environmental or other risk, perhaps some perceived political risk.  It's concerning to see problems with bringing projects to fruition.  A couple of other things too, I suppose.  

A point that's been made today is we're in a transition.  We're moving from a market which has been predominantly based around bilateral contracts which provided great security and certainty for buyers and sellers.  Many customers are still on those long term contracts, and have the benefits of those contracts, but others, of course, are facing the fact that they are now in a new market looking to obtain supply, and as has been stressed by our friends from PACIA today, there's a lot of uncertainty.  

That uncertainty is also affecting the gas industry itself.  We've got multiple uses for our product.  We've got the considerations around the export market, as well as the domestic market to service, so it's a time of uncertainty for all parties really, and so therefore that is leading to a reassessment, I suppose, about supply and the allocation of risk between the parties.  

Now, I can't comment on the evidence that has been produced to the Commission from customers that substantiates, or otherwise, their claims.  But what has been released in the public domain has often been survey evidence or such like information that's been asked for from member companies as to whether they felt that they had received an offer, or whether it was acceptable or not.  I can't make judgments about whether people are making fair assessments about whether the price they're being offered is sufficient or not.  

The terms and conditions will vary about the extent to which parties are trying to shift the risk back and forward, and as I mentioned earlier, this is a time of great transition and great uncertainty, so I'm sure that parties are seeking to manage those risks and probably would like to see the other party manage more of them than they have in the past.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  But very difficult if you're a traditional gas buyer facing a rapidly changed circumstance.  

DR ROBERTS:  Well, I think it's also true for the gas producer.  When the LNG projects were first under development, the forecast was that the price would be $100 a barrel, and today it's about $45 a barrel. 

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Yes, but we always knew it wasn't going to stay at a hundred.  Prices go up and they go down.  

DR ROBERTS:  I suppose if we're suggesting that - and it's true that a number of customers are facing difficulties because they're moving off historic contracts and going into a different market, and finding that the availability of supply is possibly on different terms and certainly prices have changed from the long term historic contract price.  I'm simply suggesting that there is also quite a lot of change on the supply side of the industry, a lot of uncertainties about price, and these have to be managed and sometimes, I suppose, they're managed in the form of the conditions around the contract.  
CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  I guess the other question, when you talk about exploration and government restrictions, certainly there has been concern expressed that where there aren't government restrictions, there has also been the lack of exploration particularly offshore, but also in other places where there aren't restrictions.  

Is that, in your view, just a function of the declining oil price and the commercial uncertainty that people are facing?  That is, it's not, as you said yourself, it's not just the various moratoria around the places that obviously are put in place for a range of reasons, which are hard to disentangle, but obviously having a moratorium is a bit of a blunt instrument, no matter what their requirements, but there certainly does seem evidence of other factors at play such as the falling oil price, and questioning whether it's commercial to bring on discoveries as well.  Do you have any comment on that?

DR ROBERTS:  Well, in some jurisdictions, since there's a moratorium in place it's a little bit hard to work out what--

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  We've got evidence where there's not.  

DR ROBERTS:  Okay.  Certainly it's also the case that if the price or the price expectations are low, then that removes or reduces the incentive for exploration.  However, we would point out that the process that operates at the state government level for onshore development requires parties to bid for exploration, licences, they're required to either cash bid or by putting forward a work program that imposes obligations on the explorers, and if they don't fulfil those obligations, they run the risk of losing those leases, and - so we are still seeing a certain amount of exploration activity but unfortunately at a time when the businesses are under financial pressure and the price expectations are soft, that activity will naturally, over time, decline.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  So it's unclear how much, I guess, it's moratoria and how much it is other factors affecting exploration programs almost by definition.  

DR ROBERTS:  There's a couple of points there.  One point, clearly there's an impact from the market conditions.  Parties have, however, made some pretty significant commitments to exploration and their access to the resources is contingent upon fulfilling those obligations, and we would like to see obviously more exploration but in some jurisdictions that's not possible, because the areas that have been available for exploration have been reduced.  Licences which were issued by government have now been bought back by government, moratoriums are in place in places like Victoria, so there's a number of different factors at work that's affecting the exploration spend of the business.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Yes.  I've got a few other questions, but if Roger or Jill or--

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  No, keep going. 

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  I will.  I guess just the joint marketing issue which I realise is specific to one joint market, but there's certainly potentially an issue in Victoria, as you say, with the gas now flowing north.  That doesn't leave a lot of sources of supply in Victoria.  What is your view on the value of continued joint marketing where you could have at least two players offering supply, whereas at the moment you've got a very concentrated supply market.  

DR ROBERTS:  Well, I suppose we rely on the Commission to make an assessment as to whether joint marketing is appropriate and is in the public interest.  It has served a purpose in ensuring some significant developments proceeded some time ago, and it provided assurance that there was a sufficient return to justify the investment, but to be ongoing the future of joint marketing is, to some extent in the hands of the Commission when your opportunity comes to review those practices.  

MR DWYER:  I guess the only thing I need in that case, of course, is - it is the case, is it not at the moment, that there are no joint marketing arrangements under consideration by the Commission so it seems to - to me that there's a little bit of a non issue in this space, so if there were to be joint marketing applications, you'd have to go through the very public and transparent authorisation process that the Commission runs, and the Commission would be required to conclude that it's in the net public benefit that that arrangement, whatever it is, be put in place, so we would see there's an open and transparent process.  But our understanding is there are no applications or prospects thereof. 

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  And as you imply, we can look at them anyway.  You're quite right.  

MR DWYER:  Correct. 

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  I wouldn't mind giving you a sense of - apart from the issues of the moratoriums all around the place, what else you'd like to see happening in the gas market.  What changes would you like to see? 

DR ROBERTS:  We're very supportive of the reforms that the COAG Energy Council has been suggesting.  We've - we agree that greater transparency would help all parties, and so we're very supportive of that.

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  And what sort of - I'll get you to elaborate on it. 

DR ROBERTS:  Certainly.  Well, as has been also investigated by the Australian Energy Market Commission, the proposal for an ABS wholesale gas price index has got some value.  There might be some difficult methological issues that attach to that, given the - as you pointed out, the contracts will include terms and conditions, as well as prices that will need to be considered as a whole, rather than just a headline price.  That would be helpful, I'm sure, in terms of price discovery for customers.  

But there is also quite a lot of information available about the reserves that are held by the companies, and we feel that perhaps some of that might need to be promoted and made more accessible to people.  There are proposals to transform the gas market bulletin board into something more accessible and helpful to customers.  We think that makes perfect sense.  So there's some initiatives in the information area which have been identified by previous inquiries which the COAG Energy Council has broadly endorsed and there's work underway, that would be helpful.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Any other - I interrupted you on the information.  Any other headings?  

DR ROBERTS:  No.  No, I think the information is - is important, that's the concern that has been raised, and it is a difficult one in the sense that to some extent, large scale users face a reasonably lumpy market.  When you go to the market, the timing of that will determine the number of offers that might be possible to be made.  As you - there will be times when a lot of supply will be already held by other parties, will be contracted, and you may be unfortunate in coming to the market at a time when there is not a lot of opportunity for other parties to bid for your custom, if you like.  That's a feature, I suppose, of having essentially relied on long term bilateral contracts for many, many years, so demand can sometimes - well, I suppose sometimes the market is going to be difficult to get lots of offers, because there may not be lot of gas immediately available at that point to commit.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  I think you've also made some comments about pipeline capacity issues.  Do you have any views on that?  

DR ROBERTS:  We've made some general observations about - in the interests of greater transparency, information that would assist people to be aware of any available capacity that might be useful for them to access.  We, however, note that for many people, they'll need firm capacity ‑ some parties will be able to put to good use as available capacity or interruptible supply.  Other parties may have a need for more reliable, or more secure access, and they may not be able to take advantage of capacity trading as readily.  So we' have in general in principle agreement that capacity trading is a useful thing, and that a secondary market requires some information for that to be possible, but also a recognition that a lot of larger users require firm capacity and in fact that's why they enter into contracts in the first place.

MR JOSE:  You've previously linked the gas price increases to increasing costs, and Australia having some particular high cost characteristics.  Is it the case that a lot of those costs has been falling as exploration, it's been slowing down in the last couple of years off the previous peak, sort of gearing up for LNG, perhaps oil price decreases has also caused some - taken a bit of the heat off that cost increases?  Has that story sort of changed? 

DR ROBERTS:  Well, we haven't - we haven't updated the research that was done for us by EnergyQuest, but I think we've shared that with you.  It has certainly been referenced in some of the submissions that the inquiry has received, and I'm very happy to provide you with a copy.  That report looked at finding and development costs and showed that they were significantly higher than they were in a previous period, the analysis, I think, was for three years from 2010 till 2013, looking at the three years preceding that period.  

We point out a few things here, I suppose.  The industry is subject to some of the general costs in the community, which have tended to be increasing for some things.  Some of the competition for skilled labour and materials will have eased with the end of the mining boom, that's for sure.  But equally we're also finding that if - there might be some savings on the costs side, but certainly the price picture facing producers is more bleak than it once was, or as it was expected to be at this time.  

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  In terms of information about reserves, how do you see that as being beneficial?  Companies have got reserves.  It doesn't necessarily indicate whether they're proposing to develop those reserves.  

DR ROBERTS:  The companies won't sit on reserves.  They will need to ensure that they have sufficient supply to fulfil their contracts, and I suppose one of the things I would point out is where you have a ten, 15, or 20 year substantial contract, you will need to be backed by the reserves to supply that contract.  You need to have a high level of confidence that you can meet your contractual obligations.  

There is a good deal of information available.  I raise it, because some of the submissions that the inquiry has received has raised questions about what other reserves are being held by companies and we have - there is ample information there about the reserves being held, particularly the companies operating the coal seam gas sector have a commercial need to demonstrate to their investors and to their customers that they have sufficient reserves to supply the market.  

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  To supply their contracts, I suppose.  

DR ROBERTS:  Yes, that's right.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Do you think there is sufficient gas in the market at the moment?  

DR ROBERTS:  That's certainly what all the evidence in the companies suggest.  We don't feel there's a shortage.  We don't feel there's a zero sum game where gas is either going to be used as an industrial feed stock or as an LNG export, or for electricity generation.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  You don't see it as a trade off?  

DR ROBERTS:  We think there might be an element of competition on the margins, but we think that there are ample gas reserves in Australia to supply those three demands.  That's why we go back to the point that we are concerned by any policy or regulatory restrictions that prevents us bringing gas to market.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  But would you be surprised to hear that people have been unable to get offers of gas?  

DR ROBERTS:  Well, as I said, I - we have anecdotal evidence presented at inquiries.  We have claims made.  Since I'm not in the market, and APPEA is not in the market writing gas supply agreements, I can't comment about how accurate those claims are, and I'm conscious in any negotiation one party may have a different view of what's being offered and its value than the other party, and it was also mentioned that if you're looking for a significant amount of gas in the market, you may be unfortunate in your timing when you come to that.  Long term bilateral contracts means that there is a great deal of the potential supply already fully committed, so if you're looking for gas at any particular point, you may have a less - you may have a more restricted choice than perhaps at another time.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  I guess people aren't necessarily after what in the context of the Australian gas market would be very large amounts of gas, but still not able to get offers and still not able to get long term offers either, but the contract offers seem to be very short.  

DR ROBERTS:  Well, as I said in the opening statement, one of the frustrations for this debate is knowing exactly what is occurring with those commercial negotiations, and as an industry association, we are not a party to those negotiations, and we can't make particular claims about them.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  But don't you get feedback from your members about an inability to supply the market?  

DR ROBERTS:  No.  No, but that doesn't mean that individual customers seeking from it one or two, or three or four or whoever they may be, potential suppliers are always going to be able to receive what they regard as an acceptable offer.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  No, I'm talking about no offer. 

DR ROBERTS:  Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  But you're not getting that feedback from your members? 

DR ROBERTS:  No.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  That's interesting. 

MR DWYER:  I think the important point to make of course is that as an industry association, that's not a space we play in at all.  

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  Except that you come here and--

MR DWYER:  No, that's not--

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  --you're prepared to say there's, from your point of view, adequate supply available and then when we question you as to what's your reaction to evidence that we received that there's not, and you say as an industry association you've got no view, because you're not close enough to the market. 

DR ROBERTS:  Well, I suppose the point we're making is it's very hard for us to comment on evidence we haven't seen.  It's very hard for us to comment on claims that are made which we're - we're not aware of who they might be made by.  

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  I understand that.  My question, I suppose is on what basis that you're telling that there's adequate supply available.  

DR ROBERTS:  Well, I would look at AEMO’s, for example, forecast in terms of gas demand and supply.  I would look at what EnergyQuest regularly publishes and their latest quarterly report as available.  Obviously there's always a little bit of difficulty with forecasts, and not all forecasts will prove to be as accurate as you might like, but the evidence is that if you look at the reserves we have in this country, they're ample to meet all those three demands that I've mentioned.  

We're not hearing that people are unable to find gas, but I can't make a categorical statement around a negative in the sense of saying it can't possibly be true, we haven't seen the evidence that has been put to the committee.  We're simply saying that if you look at the forecasts, they're very clear.  We have sufficient gas to meet demand.  

MR DWYER:  The other additional point in a situation where you've got people expressing concerns about availability of supply, and you've got a market characterised by a complete moratorium in one jurisdiction and significant supply restrictions in another, both of which could be very large suppliers to the market.  I don't see those as disconnected.  

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  They may not be disconnected, but notwithstanding the moratoria, you're saying that from your perspective, there's adequate supply anyway.  

DR ROBERTS:  Well, not just from our perspective, the Australian energy market operator forecasts supply and demand.  They're not suggesting there's a shortfall of supply until possibly 2019 and beyond, so we're making two simple points, I hope.  The first is that in terms of the physical resource, there are ample reserves in Australia to supply the LNG demand and the domestic gas market, and that the forecast of supply and demand by a reputable body such as AEMO is still very positive.  There's no suggestion of a supply shortfall.  Now, I can't comment on what confidential information and claims you may have received, so I'm not trying to dispute or be disrespectful to those claims.  I'm simply saying I can't comment on how accurate they may be.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  I think it's fair to say though that yes, we have got access to confidential information. 

DR ROBERTS:  Yes. 

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  But what led to this inquiry was those complaints anyway about the lack of gas, so you must be aware of those claims. 

DR ROBERTS:  Absolutely.  Absolutely.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  And your members must discuss those claims.  You're an industry association, you must have some--

DR ROBERTS:  Well, we've looked at the evidence that has been presented in those claims and as I mentioned, it's quite often been survey evidence to say some members of an industry association will report that they have not been able to achieve - not been able to find an offer.  Some have reported that they haven't been able to find an offer that is acceptable to them, which suggests that there are price or contract conditions which they don't find acceptable, and others have said that they've been able to obtain gas, but they would have liked to have had more choice, if you like, more possible sellers.  

That survey evidence, which we're not a party to, we've just noted that's how it's been reported.  The observation I suppose we're making is that it seems to be generally agreed, and I pointed to AEMO, amongst others, that we have no shortage of gas to supply those demands, and that the market will, at different times, have more or less gas available for - being contracted, so there may be occasions where a party is looking for supply, but finds it more difficult than they would have at a different time.  

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  You can sympathise with an industrial customer who finds that because of the gas flowing north, which we heard this morning, that there's a new set of gravity in Australia in terms of Gladstone being the point where gas seems to be flowing, and you're saying it may just be unfortunate that the industrial users, looking for gas at a time when there's the other demands on that supply.  

DR ROBERTS:  I think it's important to recognise that the gas industry is very dynamic, and there's been quite a few counterfactual - sort of discussed and appearances before the inquiry.  One thing I think we're confident of is that we've seen a very substantial expansion of our resources, spurred by the LNG investment.  If we had not had the LNG opportunity on the east coast, we would have probably been in the situation where we would still face the increasing costs curb of extracting gas to supply the domestic market.  

We would have done it in an even smaller market.  I think if you look at the statistics, it's fairly clear that between 2002 and 2012 our output from Moomba, the traditional hub of the east coast market, the onshore hub anyway, fell by two-thirds, or almost two-thirds.  It has required an $800 million investment to upgrade Moomba, to extract more resource from that hub to supply, amongst other things, the domestic market.  

So I suppose what we would point to is that LNG, to some extent, has created the same supply.  It's tapped unconventional resources which weren't being tapped previously, but we would have had the existing conventional resources continuing to decline, but we would have had a smaller market to bear the higher costs of infrastructure upgrades and development to continue to supply gas into the market, so it's really to say that - to simply say that all the gas would be diverted into LNG and that's going to be a bad thing, overlooks the fact that we would have seen diminishing supply from conventional reserves.  It would have been far more expensive to upgrade the infrastructure to supply new resources into the market.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  I don't think you've heard anything from this side of the table--

DR ROBERTS:  No.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  --queries the LNG projects, we're more trying to get a common understanding of there's a problem out there, and I guess what we're hearing from you particularly is that there isn't a problem, there's enough gas, and the evidence we're getting is something different, and that disconnect is an interesting one. 

DR ROBERTS:  I think I was a little bit more cautious than that.  I think that what we--

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  I'm talking impressions, as well as words.  

DR ROBERTS:  I'll try and be more precise in my language then.  What we're saying is that all the forecasters, the reputable forecasters suggest that we have sufficient gas reserves to supply domestic and export demand, and I mentioned AEMO in that case.  So that's the point that we're simply making about supply, that we feel that there is sufficient gas that can be brought to the market to meet all demand in the country.  That's not to say there might not be individual cases where users have found difficulty in obtaining gas, particularly if they have particular needs or contractual conditions which they would like met.  

We're saying that as well that the LNG developments have, to a great extent, created their own supply, and has been able to see substantial unconventional gas resources tapped to supply the market, and that some of the unavoidable costs of upgrading infrastructure and replacing diminishing conventional or established resources has been, in part, carried by that investment, so otherwise we would have faced the prospect that perhaps some of our existing established reserves would have declined over time, as was happening at Moomba from 2002 to 2012, requiring us still to go into finding more costly or more risky alternative supplies at a greater cost to the market.  

MR BALL:  Are you able to provide some examples of how - you've just said that the costs of extracting the gas that is there in the Cooper, for example.  You seem to be suggesting that costs have gone up compared to the gas that's been extracted previously.  Is that right? 

DR ROBERTS:  They are just in the process of spending $800 million to upgrade the Moomba processing facility, and that's - I was pointing out that the output from Moomba from 2002 to 2012 had fallen by almost two-thirds.  It has required a very substantial reinvestment in that facility to lift production, and that those costs are being carried obviously by all participants in the gas market, including the LNG developers.  

MR BALL:  So why exactly has that redevelopment been - required a change in respect of the gas, or--

DR ROBERTS:  Why does it--

MR BALL:  Is it a change in the specification of the gas?  Is there some particular reason why it's needed, that it's a such a--

DR ROBERTS:  No, no.  It's a reflection of the fact that for 40 or more years we've been extracting gas from the Cooper and that obviously we've tapped in the more accessible and lower cost supply that's available in that area.  But to sustain output from that area and to reverse the long term decline that we've witnessed for about ten years just recently, it's required a reinvestment in the infrastructure and an upgrade to that infrastructure, and the costs of extracting gas are rising. 

MR BALL:  Yes.  So the upgrade is not confined to the processing facility.  It's in the extraction techniques and other things.  

DR ROBERTS:  No, no, it's - that's right. 

MR BALL:  Yes. 

DR ROBERTS:  As I mentioned earlier, the EnergyQuest report shows that finding and development costs have increased substantially in that period from 2010 to 2013, and picking up from Jeremy's point, that may moderate to the extent that some of those costs might reflect cyclical demand for labour, skilled labour and resources, but the broader point still remains true, that the cost curve facing the industry is rising, because we have tapped the cheaper, most accessible gas first.  We have extracted a lot of that gas.  We're now moving into either more high costs conventional resources, or we're doing unconventional gas, which is obviously onshore coal seam gas on the east coast, and that has technical and other problems which makes it a more costly venture than the traditional conventional reserves we've used.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Are you suggesting that the higher prices are costs driven, rather than export parity pricing?  I find that strange. 

DR ROBERTS:  I'm not trying to--

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  I would have thought the gas would be priced at its opportunity cost, rather than costs.  

DR ROBERTS:  I'm simply saying is that we're facing an increasing costs curve and that we demonstrated that, for example, through the EnergyQuest report I've mentioned.  The costs have increased, and that has been through enterprise.  I was simply making the point that that is a factor that is driving, in part, higher prices.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  I'm still surprised at that.  I would have thought you'd get prices going to export parity anyway, minus the pipeline connecting to Gladstone.  That's fairly basic economic theory, isn't it?  

DR ROBERTS:  I think it's important to note that - yes, it is, but not all gas is readily available for use as LNG export.  If we look, for example, at Western Australia, we'll find that there is a very substantial offshore industry producing for LNG export.  At the same time there are parties, Quadrant Energy comes to mind, which are focused on the domestic market and supplying the domestic market.  Here, on the east coast, there's at least three--

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Yes.  We're an east coast gas inquiry, but--

DR ROBERTS:  Yes.  I'll come to the east coast example then.  There are about three projects at the moment being developed for domestic gas supply on the east coast.  There are occasions when the resource is there, but it's not tied into an LNG project, and it's apparently more likely to end up in the domestic supply so there are occasions where, by virtue of the location or the quality of the resource, or the fact of who's developing it, that's going to end up in the domestic market rather than as part of the LNG's market.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Do you see the market dividing in some way? 

DR ROBERTS:  Well, some projects will have different economics, different potential markets.  Not all gas in Australia is destined to end up as LNG export.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  No, but surely in an interconnected market, that would have to set a benchmark price.  

DR ROBERTS:  True, and that's also, as you said, interconnected.  Sometimes it might be the path to market is more difficult, and the domestic market is more assured in terms of volumes and infrastructure and delivery. 

MR BALL:  You said a moment ago that costs are rising.  You've said earlier in your evidence that, as we all know, the oil price is falling.  Surely that has an impact on your assessment of whether gas is actually going to come - whether it's actually commercially viable to bring gas to market.  Are you able to comment on what--

DR ROBERTS:  Yes, yes.  I think there's ample evidence that many projects which are, if you like, discretionary, will not be proceeding as planned or be perhaps deferred or possibly not proceed at all.  There is a price cost collision, if you like, happening in the market at the moment and I think it would be very surprising that if the market has seen the commodity price more than halved in less than a year, then that means that all the projects that are on the drawing board will necessarily proceed exactly as planned.  

MR BALL:  Yes, which makes it a bit optimistic to suggest that there's no problem here just because the reserves are in the ground.  

DR ROBERTS:  No, I'm not suggesting there's no problem here.  Can I just correct - if I have left that impression, I apologise.  What I have said is that the forecasts about, if you like, the raw supply of gas to meet demand from AEMO and other parties is that we have sufficient gas to meet demand.  Now, that is something that people can argue about.  EnergyQuest, for example, has queried some of the assumptions in AEMO's latest forecasts around supply and demand, particularly focusing on the supply side risk, pointing out to factors such as whether the reserves will actually yield the full quantity that's forecast, because there's an inherent variability in supply from coal seam gas, so I wish to correct any sense that we're saying that it's not necessarily a problem.  

We're simply saying the forecasts show that in terms of likely demand and what is believed to be likely supply, that there is sufficient gas to supply the market.  And that is altogether different to saying that at any point in time, someone going to the market to look for a particular supply of gas at a particular price or at a particular place or in a particular volume is guaranteed of having immediately a broad range of options.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  I think we're seeing something much broader than that description would justify.  

DR ROBERTS:  I make the point, I suppose, that we're simply saying that we feel that there is sufficient supply, particularly if we can see some of the restrictions on development removed.  We take the point, and we quite agree, that in the current climate it's really an act of great courage, if not faith, to continue to develop reserves and explore for reserves with the price being depressed as it is.  It's a tough market to continue to supply, and that's why we would highlight the need for policy or regulatory changes to allow us to bring more gas to market.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  But if the price has fallen and that has diminished the incentive to produce, will the removal of that moratoria lead to more exploration?  

DR ROBERTS:  Well, there will be reserves which are cost effective to produce.  Some of the high cost or high risk options may not be attractive at this time, but if we have a moratorium on production out of an entire state, a state that has got well developed infrastructure and a well established industry and has highly prospective reserves, it would be strange if there wasn't an opportunity to bring some of that gas to market and supplement the existing supply.  

MR BALL:  You said that there were some projects that, a few minutes ago, that there were some projects that you thought would have gas or supply domestically rather than supply to the LNG ..(not transcribable)..

DR ROBERTS:  Yes. 

MR BALL:  What are the specifics that are factors that you have in mind that would indicate what those projects are?  

DR ROBERTS:  Well, there are projects that have made it clear that they're focused on the domestic market and they're in the process of developing up their reserves to supply the market.  We have Senex and the Western Surat, Marathon Resources at Leigh Creek, and Santos and Cooper have a project called Sole, and we can provide you some information on that.  The point I'm simply trying to make is that this is a market with at least three broad categories of customers, and there are developers who are looking to supply particular parts of the market and where they would be best placed to supply that in terms of the access they have to infrastructure, their location, possibly the supply of gas that they have, the quality of gas they have.  

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  I take it that you've got a range of different members in terms of their size and--

DR ROBERTS:  Absolutely.

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  --the length of their experience and so forth.  I take it that there would be a difference of view amongst those members as to the system of retention leases and so forth around the country?  

DR ROBERTS:  Our members represent 98 % of the production of the country, so virtually every shade of opinion that's available in the industry is represented in the association.  With retention leases, they're obviously onshore.  They're subject to different state regimes.  The general principle is that you effectively bid for the lease.  You're obliged to - sometimes it involves cash bidding, and you're obliged to fulfil obligations to test the prospectivity of the lease and develop them in time.  If it's found that the deposits, if you like, or the reserves are commercial and you don't develop them, then you lose the right to do so.  

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  In some jurisdictions though, you can lose the right to develop them.  In others, you might have an opportunity to negotiate over that.  Is that the case?  

DR ROBERTS:  Well, the general principle remains that you've got a set of obligations.  You get given the lease on the basis that you're essentially showing more commitment, more capacity to develop the resource.  If the resource is found to be commercial, then there's an obligation on you to develop it.  

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  But obviously that would depend on the oil price. 

DR ROBERTS:  Well, it certainly depends upon the market conditions at the time, yes.  

MR DWYER:  But very importantly, of course, in this space if you have a retention lease granted, there are two things to note.  One - that's one aspect of the overall acreage management regime in Australia, and so it's not always helpful to look at these things in isolation.  They fit as part of a broad policy approach to acreage management in this country.  Before you have a retention lease granted, you need to go through a process with the regulator as to why you want that retention lease granted, and if it is granted, then you undertake, as part of that, a range of commitments to prove up the commerciality of the resource in place, so if you've said there are particular factors that mean this resource is not commercially viable right now but will viable at a later time, you undertake a commitment to address the factors that have led to you making that assessment, if the regulator granted you that assessment, so you don't just sit on it.  

You go through market studies, legal processes, geological processes to prove up those resources, and it's available to the government to be quite prescriptive about the conditions that attach to those leases, so they can require quite specific things.  You've said it's not commercial because of Factor X, you will need to do these things which cost tens of millions of dollars over that time frame to prove it up and we can require you, if we're not satisfied with the work that you have done, to go to development.  So the ability for regulators and for governments to be quite prescriptive in the terms that they attach to those retention leases and for the obligations that retention lease holders have imposed upon them when a retention lease is granted is quite prescriptive, and it's quite open to governments to be very, very onerous in what they do.  So it's not a case that you apply for a retention lease and then you sit on it and nothing happens.  That is not the case at all.  

COMMISSIONER FEATHERSTON:  If that is the case, it's government--

MR DWYER:  Yes, and of course it's been the case that there have been white papers recently and resource management framework reviews are underway.  The Federal Government came to power with a commitment to undertake a very thorough review of retention leases, so they don't sit around in a static policy environment that alleviates obligations on retention lease holders to undertake the work.  

DR ROBERTS:  In a nutshell, you have to demonstrate the capacity to develop the resource and if it's a commercial resource and you have failed to develop it, then you lose the lease, so the intention is obviously to ensure that commercial resources are brought to market as quickly as possible.  It's a competitive process, so if you wish to develop a resource, you have to compete against other parties who have the same desire.  You have to fulfil your obligations and the key judgment is if it's commercial and you haven't taken it to market, then you run the risk of losing that opportunity.  

MR PHILP:  Just so I understand, what do you mean by commercial resource?  

DR ROBERTS:  Well, it may be the case that the quality of the resource, the costs of developing it at that time in the market cycle is not sufficient to justify proceeding to develop it.  It may be the case that - and that's obviously a judgment that's made case by case by the governments that have issued the licences in the first instance, so a judgment has to be made as to whether the resource is of a sufficient quantity and quality etcetera for it to be developed at that time. 

MR PHILP:  To what extent do things like - your earlier evidence of the increased cost of production, the more difficulty in extracting the gas, the decrease in the oil price have an effect on that commerciality?  

DR ROBERTS:  Well, I think it varies from jurisdiction to jurisdiction and a judgment will still have to be made taking into account all those factors.  

MR DWYER:  Technology plays a role as well, so it may well be the case that developing the resource is not technically feasible at this point in time, and that would have been true, and is still true of a number of resources that are held under retention leases.  Fast forward to floating LNG, for example, and you've got a range of resources that can be developed.  Coal seam gas developments, it's not a retention lease question, this is a broader conversation.  

It had been accessed by bringing together a range of technologies, so there are a range of factors that go into whether a resource can be brought commercially to market, some of which are direct commercial, it's the oil price, what's the demand, and some of which are technical, some of which are geological, and some of which may be policy related, so native title issues, for example, I need to work through a series of native title negotiations before I can bring this resource to market.  This is what I'm going to do over time to bring that process, that native title process to a conclusion so that I can go into production.  They're the sorts of factors that bear on these sorts of things.  

The other point of course is one of the things that before you go into the retention lease process, if you do, is you need to have explored for and found a resource, and you will have, as a company, gathered the information required for you to underpin that decision yourself and you will have invested tens, sometimes hundreds of millions of dollars in the exploration process to gather that information to make those sorts of decisions, so the retention lease process in some respects recognises the investment that those companies have made in finding that resource in the first place.  

MR PHILP:  I suppose my questions about commerciality, my curiosity in that is price normally follows demand, and yet I think if I heard your evidence, we're seeing a decrease in exploration at the moment and yet an increase in price within the marketplace, and the extent to which oil and other costs are affecting that as well as the regulatory regime that's involved as well.  

MR DWYER:  It's one factor that plays on retention lease arrangements.  It plays on all sorts of commercial - what's the intended rate of return on my investment in developing this resource?  So not surprisingly, price plays a role.  It's not the only role, it's not the only factor, but yes.  It's undeniably a factor. 

MR PHILP:  Yes, and in the context recently we've seen some significant 2P reserve impairments being in the marketplace, so--

DR ROBERTS:  And very substantial impairments announced in the last month. 

MR PHILP:  So you'd appreciate our difficulty in trying to reconcile a market in which everyone is telling us that prices are going up, it's becoming more difficult to source gas domestically, an increase in demand in the marketplace and an increase in impairments and a reduction in exploration.  

MR DWYER:  We would suggest there are a number of factors that bear on that.  There's a very large impairment on an east coast gas company in New South Wales brought about very directly because of restrictions on development, the largest onshore undeveloped resource on the east coast.  It sits in New South Wales, so that's clearly a very direct impediment to bringing the largest east coast gas resource onshore that's not developed to market.  

That's before you even get into whether, under the current circumstances, it could be commercially developed.  You can't even get to that kind of assessment, and that's before we get into Victoria where there's a total moratorium, so I can't tell you whether that's commercial or not.  Some will.  There are some developers right now on the east coast in Victoria, sitting on conventional resources that will tell you they're ready to go, but for the moratorium 

MR PHILP:  But of course not all of these are in Victoria or New South Wales either. 

MR DWYER:  No, no, but that one is, very directly.  There are a number in Victoria very directly, and there are a number in New South Wales that could be, and so can the market bring those to bear?  Can the commercial decisions that you have to go through before you invest one or two or $3 billion in a development, can you go through that process right now?  No, you can't, so it's hard for us to test what the market can or can't bear right now when there are those very direct restrictions in place on bringing that to market.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  But I guess with those restrictions, a good part of the gas is held by LNG producers and so obviously sensibly they would treat that as the first call on their gas and that does mean that if you're a small, a very small consumer of gas, manufacturing consumer, then you're not exactly up there in the pecking order.  To some extent what was once a large demand for gas is no longer a large demand for gas, as the market has tripled and so just not the same ranking in the priority system, as well as the fact that the major gas producers presumably with their LNG contracts don't have a lot of gas to throw around because they've got to meet their contractual needs, so all that must have some relevance to the market, must it not?  

DR ROBERTS:  Indeed, and we're not suggesting it doesn't.  I suppose all we're suggesting is that the best available forecasts say that we have got sufficient gas to supply all the customers in the market.  But we put the caveat on that, that doesn't mean that at any particular time any particular customer looking for a particular amount of gas available under perhaps particular terms is going to find a large number of potential suppliers. 

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Would you accept though that if there were a lot of people who couldn't get more than one offer on very strict terms, if there were a lot of players in that market, that that would indicate a market problem?  

DR ROBERTS:  Well, we certainly feel if there's unmet demand for gas, there's a problem.  Now, what the cause of that problem might be, obviously requires access to a great deal of information and an ability to sift what might be the structural of other reasons that might be causing that, as opposed to what parties to a negotiation may see as the reasons for that problem, so it's a matter for - we obviously don't have access to that sort of information, and we can't make judgments about how fair or otherwise the characterisation of individual contract negotiations are in the public domain.  

MR BALL:  What would your commentary be if the situation was that EnergyQuest, as I think they may have very recently have done, they've come out and said that while supply/demand balance on the east coast was actually - looking over the next few years, is actually very, very tight, there's not much of a--

DR ROBERTS:  Yes.  

MR BALL:  The supply and demand is fairly evenly matched.  What would your commentary be in that situation?  

DR ROBERTS:  Well, EnergyQuest has made similar comments to that.  They have pointed out concerns that AEMO's forecast might be too optimistic on the supply site and that the - in fact they have suggested that there may be some great - some doubt about the capacity of using existing reserves to meet some of the demand, so there's an argument there which essentially is a bit of an engineering argument about reliability and productiveness of existing reserves to meet forecast demands.  

Now, they have obviously got a different view to AEMO and without - and I'm certainly not suggesting one or the other is necessarily correct.  What I'm saying the body of work is that AEMO says that we don't have any forecast shortfall in supply, that demand can be met, that the sufficient reserves are available to do that.  EnergyQuest has raised some concerns about some of the assumptions in AEMO's forecast.  

MR BALL:  You would then accept that if the EnergyQuest view of the world is more accurate than the AEMO view of the world, then you would envisage that some customers would start to have problems. 

DR ROBERTS:  Well, the market would be much tighter.  Yes, the market would be much tighter.  That's looking forward.  I can't say for sure which is the better analysis and which is more likely to be true.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Thank you very much for your time today.  

DR ROBERTS:  Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON SIMS:  Is there anything else you want to add?  

DR ROBERTS:  Well, I think the important thing is that from the gas industry point of view, it's a period of transition as well as for our customers.  We're tapping new resources, unconventional resources.  We're confronting a significant change in global market conditions, just at the same time as we're seeing an increased linkage between global prices and local prices.  We're facing significant restrictions on the capacity to develop new resources, which I grant your point, it doesn't necessarily mean that today we might have had a different situation but certainly is creating difficulties for future investment in the industry in creating difficulties around assuring that we have more than adequate supply, so we have a great deal of sympathy for customers who are saying they're uncertain about when this market is going to settle down.  

They're uncertain about future supply and price.  The gas industry itself has the same uncertainties and it's trying to ensure that it can continue to supply reliably all our customers at a competitive price, and we would be able to do that more comfortably with greater confidence if we had a political and regulatory framework that was - supported further development, and that we also see the east coast market evolving over time.  We've seen requests from people to see a deeper, more liquid market.  We think that's a good objective to have, but we also note that there are sometimes a bit of tension between having the security of supply that's guaranteed from long term contracts and having deep liquid spot markets in what is still a relatively small market.  

If you compare our situation to the United States or the UK, we are still a small market.  We have a large - a reasonable number of suppliers into that market, certainly more so than many markets in Australia, but it's a market where it's going to be difficult to move to deep transparent spot markets and a large secure bilateral contract market at the same time.  There are some tensions between trying to achieve the security of long term contracts with the transparency and price discovery of spot markets.  
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